SPAWNING AND EARLY LIFE HISTORY OF MOUNTAIN WHITEFISH IN THE MADISON RIVER, MONTANA

by

Jan Katherine Boyer

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

Master of Science

in

Fish and Wildlife Management

MONTANA STATE UNIVERSITY Bozeman, Montana

January 2016

© COPYRIGHT

by

Jan Katherine Boyer

2016

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I thank my advisor, Dr. Christopher Guy, for challenging me and providing advice throughout every stage of this project. I also thank my committee members, Dr. Molly Webb and Dr. Tom McMahon, for guidance and suggestions which greatly improved this research. My field technicians Jordan Rowe, Greg Hill, and Patrick Luckenbill worked hard through fair weather and snowstorms to help me collect the data presented here. I also thank Travis Horton, Pat Clancey, Travis Lohrenz, Tim Weiss, Kevin Hughes, Rick Smaniatto, and Nick Pederson of Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks for field assistance and advice. Mariah Talbott, Leif Halvorson, and Eli Cureton of the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service assisted with field and lab work. Richard Lessner and Dave Brickner at the Madison River Foundation helped to secure funding for this project and conduct outreach in the Madison Valley. The Channels Ranch, Valley Garden Ranch, Sun West Ranch, and Galloup's Slide Inn provided crucial land and river access. I also thank my fellow graduate students both for advice on project and class work and for being excellent people to spend time with. Ann Marie Reinhold, Mariah Mayfield, David Ritter, and Peter Brown were especially helpful during the early stages of this project.

This study was supported with funding from the Madison River Foundation, Cross Charitable Foundation, PPL Montana (now Northwestern Energy), and with funding and in kind help from Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION TO THESIS	1
References	5
SPAWNING REHAVIOR AND ILIVENILE DISTRIBUTION	
OF MOUNTAIN WHITEFISH IN THE MADISON RIVER	
MONTANA	
Contributions of Authors and Co-Authors	7
Manuscript Information Page	
Abstract	9
Introduction	
Methods	
Study Area	
Reproductive Development	
Fish Capture and Radio-tagging	
Radio Tracking	
Timing of Spawning	
Habitat Characterization	
Analysis of Spawning and Movement Data	
Age-0 Distribution	
Results	
Reproductive Development	
Timing of Spawning	
Movement	
Spawning Locations	30
Spawning Habitat	31
Δge_{-0} Distribution	32
Discussion	
Reproductive Development	
Movement Snawning and Age-0 Distribution	
Future Directions	
Tables	
Piguits	

TABLE OF CONTENTS - CONTINUED

3. GEAR COMPARISON FOR SAMPLING AGE-0 MOUNTAIN	
WHITEFISH	71
Contributions of Authors and Co-Authors	71
Manuscript Information Page	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Study Area	
Gear Comparison	
Results	
Discussion	
Tables	
Figures	
References	
4. CONCLUSIONS	96
References	100
REFERENCES CITED	
APPENDIX A: Age and Growth Model	114

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
	2.1.	Stages of reproductive development used to assign stages to gonad samples (modified from Blazer 2002, Goetz et al. 2011)
	2.2.	Macroscale habitat measurements for reaches in the Madison River
	2.3.	Habitat variables measured at seining sampling sites in the Madison River in May and June 201449
	2.4.	Coefficient estimates and measures of variation for explanatory variables from zero-altered negative binomial model of age-0 Mountain Whitefish presence and <i>C/f</i> (i.e., only locations where one or more age-0 Mountain Whitefish were sampled) in the Madison River, Montana, from May – June 2013
	3.1.	Age-0 Mountain Whitefish <i>C/f</i> in the Madison River, Montana grouped by habitat type (backwater, large channel, ≥ 18 m width, small channel, ≤ 6 m width) and sampling gear
	3.2.	Age-0 Mountain Whitefish <i>C/f</i> in channel sites in the Madison River, Montana grouped by presence or absence of areas of slow water $\ge 2m^2$ and sampling gear

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
	2.1.	Map of study site on the Madison River, Montana51
	2.2.	Weight-fecundity relationship for Mountain Whitefish captured with boat electrofishing in the Madison River, Montana from 10 to 12 October 2012, and in other watersheds (Sigler 1951; Brown 1952; Northcote and Ennis 1994; Wydoski 2001)
	2.3.	Ovarian development of Mountain Whitefish, periodic acid schiff stain, bar equals 100µm
	2.4.	Testicular development of Mountain Whitefish, periodic acid schiff stain, bar equals 100µm54
	2.5.	Logistic-regression models used to predict age and length at 50% and 90% maturity for Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, Montana
	2.6.	Status of captured female Mountain Whitefish (grouped by week) and daily densities of Mountain Whitefish embryos collected on egg mats in the Madison River, Montana during autumn (A) 2013 and (B) 2014. Egg mats that did not collect any embryos were excluded from density calculations
	2.7.	Mean total and net weekly movement rates (mean ± 95% CI) of radio-tagged Mountain Whitefish and daily mean, maximum, and minimum water temperatures in the Madison River, Montana during autumn 2012, 2013, and 2014
	2.8.	Maps illustrating locations of radio-tagged mature Mountain Whitefish during the (A) prespawning, (B) spawning, and (C) postspawning periods in $2012 - 2014$ (all years pooled); and (D) presence and (E) <i>C/f</i> of age-0 Mountain Whitefish sampled with seining in May and June 2014 from the Madison River, Montana

LIST OF FIGURES - CONTINUED

Figure		Pa	ge
	2.9.	Depth, water velocity, and substrate type (mean \pm 95% CI) in the Madison River, Montana in autumn 2013 and 2014 at randomly selected availability sites ($n = 30$) and Mountain Whitefish spawning sites (2013: $n = 4$, 2014: $n = 8$)	59
	2.10.	Winter water temperatures in the Madison River, Montana 2014-2015.	50
	2.11.	Daily (A) mean water temperatures and (B) mean daily water temperature change at spawning sites and availability sites in the same river reach in the Madison River, Montana from 3 December 2014 to 7 March 2015.	51
	2.12.	Habitat variables associated with probability of detecting age-0 Mountain Whitefish using seines in the Madison River in May – June 2014.	52
	3.1.	Map of study site	38
	3.2.	Schematic illustrating (A) delineation of blocks, and (B) sampling sites within randomly selected blocks	39
	3.3.	Catch per unit effort (C/ <i>f</i> ; number per meter) of age-0 Mountain Whitefish at seined ($n = 23$) and electrofished ($n = 23$) sites in the Madison River, Montana.	90
	3.4.	Length-frequency histogram of age-0 Mountain Whitefish captured with seining and electrofishing in the Madison River, Montana in May and June 2013.	91
	A1.	Length-at-age and von Bertalanffy growth model for Mountain Whitefish captured with boat electrofishing on 10 to 12 October ($n = 146$) in the Madison River, Montana	15

ABSTRACT

Mountain Whitefish were historically common throughout much of the Intermountain West. However, within the last decade Mountain Whitefish have exhibited population-level declines in some rivers. In the Madison River, Montana, anecdotal evidence indicates Mountain Whitefish abundance has declined and the population is skewed toward larger individuals, which is typically symptomatic of recruitment problems. Recruitment is influenced by factors including reproductive development, spawning behavior, and juvenile distribution. Describing these factors and identifying efficient methods for sampling age-0 fish would form a foundation for investigating mechanisms influencing recruitment. I collected otoliths and gonad samples (n = 147) to characterize fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity. I implanted radio tags in mature Mountain Whitefish (n = 138) and relocated tagged fish in autumn 2012 - 2014. Timing of spawning was determined from spawning status of captured females (n = 85) and from density of eggs collected on egg mats. In spring 2013, I evaluated backpack electrofishing, seining, minnow traps, and lighted minnow traps at sampling sites downstream of Varney Bridge (n = 92). In spring 2014, I seined backwater and channel sites (n = 221) to describe age-0 distribution. Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River were highly fecund (18,450 eggs/kg body weight) annual spawners, and age at 50% maturity was 2.0 for males and 2.6 for females. In 2013 and 2014, spawning occurred between the third week of October and first week of November. Movement varied as a function of spawning behavior, and prespawning movements trended downstream. During spawning, spawning adults and collected embryos were concentrated in the downstream 26 km of the study site, a reach characterized by a complex, braided channel. Of the gears tested, seines were most efficient at sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish. The downstream reach had the highest catch-per-unit effort of age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Within this reach, age-0 fish were associated with siltladen backwater and eddy habitats. Maturation and fecundity were similar to other populations, and reproductive development appeared normal, thus factors influencing recruitment probably occur post spawning. Spawning and age-0 rearing sites were concentrated in a small area, thus future work should investigate stressors present in incubation and rearing areas.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION TO THESIS

Mountain Whitefish are a relatively common salmonid found throughout western North America (Scott and Crossman 1973). The range of Mountain Whitefish extends from Colorado to the Yukon Territory and from the Pacific Ocean to the Rocky Mountain Front (Brown 1971; Scott and Crossman 1973). Within this range, Mountain Whitefish are most common in mountain lakes and 4th – 7th order streams (Scott and Crossman 1973; Meyer et al. 2009). In the upper Missouri River Basin, Montana, Mountain Whitefish are present in the Missouri River upstream of Missouri River Breaks National Monument and in large (\geq 4th order) tributaries including the Madison, Gallatin, Jefferson, Smith, and Sun rivers. Mountain Whitefish are generally absent from small tributaries (< 4th order) and are not found in warmwater streams where water temperature frequently exceeds 23°C (Brown 1971; Eaton and Scheller 1996).

Mountain Whitefish are often at high abundance in areas where they are present, and are ecologically and economically important. For example, Mountain Whitefish can represent the highest biomass within a fish assemblage (Northcote and Ennis 1994; Paragamian 2002; Meyer et al. 2009); in the Kootenai River, Idaho, Mountain Whitefish represented 70% of catch and 42% of fish biomass, and in the Snake River Basin, Idaho, the highest Mountain Whitefish abundance was 1,257/100 m (Paragamian 2002; Meyer et al. 2009). Thus, Mountain Whitefish probably play an important role in ecosystem dynamics (Lance and Baxter 2011; Bellmore et al. 2013). Mountain Whitefish consume a variety of aquatic invertebrates including Ephemeroptera, Diptera, Trichoptera, and Plecoptera (Laakso 1951; Pontius and Parker 1973) and are consumed by aquatic predators including trout. Mountain Whitefish are also linked to terrestrial food webs through predation by river otters *Lontra canadensis* (Melquist and Hornrocker 1983), osprey *Pandion haliaetus*, and bald eagles *Haliaeetus leucocephalus* (Van Daele and Van Daele 1982). Additionally, Mountain Whitefish are important for human recreation and local economies. Recreational fishing provides a major economic contribution to many Western states and provinces (Bailey and Sumaila 2012, CTC 2012, USFWS 2011). Finally, Mountain Whitefish are the only native salmonid in many of the larger rivers in the Intermountain West (Brown 1971; Scott and Crossman 1973).

In the past decade, population-level declines of Mountain Whitefish have been reported in the southern portion of their range. Declines in abundance have been reported in the Yampa River, Colorado (K. Rogers, Colorado Wildlife and Parks, personal communication), the Big Lost and Kootenai rivers, Idaho (IDFG 2007, Paragamian 2002), and several Wyoming lakes (G. Edwards, Wyoming Fish and Game, personal communication). Anecdotal information suggests Mountain Whitefish abundance may be declining in additional watersheds. In the Madison River, Montana, anglers have reported declining catches of Mountain Whitefish throughout the last decade (P. Clancey, Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks, personal communication). No population trend data on Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River exists to corroborate the angler supposition. However, Mountain Whitefish catch-per-unit-effort (C/f) declined in the late 1990s through the early 2000s and has stabilized at relatively low levels in Hebgen Lake, an

impoundment on the upper Madison River (Clancey and Lohrenz 2013)—suggesting that observations made by anglers are plausible.

The reported declines in the Madison River are a cause for concern because Mountain Whitefish are part of a world-renowned recreational fishery. The Madison River supports more angler days than any other river in Montana (MFWP 2008 - 2012), and provides a major economic contribution to southwest Montana (Grau et al. 2014; Lewis and King 2014). Anglers fishing in the Madison River primarily target Brown Trout *Salmo trutta* and Rainbow Trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, but Mountain Whitefish are also a part of the recreational fishery, and historically provided additional angling opportunities when angling for Brown Trout and Rainbow Trout proved difficult. However, given their current abundance, Mountain Whitefish are more difficult to catch.

The exact mechanisms for reported Mountain Whitefish declines in the Madison River are unknown. Investigations into mechanisms are difficult because of limited ecological information on Mountain Whitefish, relative to other salmonids. Additionally, efficient sampling techniques have not been described for all Mountain Whitefish life stages. A review of Mountain Whitefish biology and habitat use by Northcote and Ennis (1994) located only 112 relevant references published prior to 1994, including grey literature. I located only 22 peer-reviewed papers published since 1994 that addressed Mountain Whitefish ecology (EBSCO Fish, Fisheries & Aquatic Biodiversity database search for "Mountain Whitefish" in abstract). Given the lack of scientific studies and little empirical data for Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, our research questions focused on understanding female reproductive characteristics, spawning habits, and

distribution of juvenile Mountain Whitefish. Fish populations are often limited by recruitment (Bradford and Cabana 1997; Myers 2002), so describing factors that influence the abundance and distribution of juvenile Mountain Whitefish could provide a foundation for investigating limiting factors.

My objectives in chapter two were to: 1) describe fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity, 2) describe migration, spawning, and identify environmental factors that may influence the timing and location of spawning; and 3) describe the distribution of age-0 Mountain Whitefish at a macroscale (i.e., throughout the study site) and mesoscale (i.e., among habitat types). My objectives in chapter three were to determine which sampling gear had the highest C/f of age-0 Mountain Whitefish, and describe habitat characteristics associated with age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f. A lack of information on Mountain Whitefish ecology and habitat requirements has made it difficult to identify mechanisms for declines in abundance reported in the Madison River and throughout the western United States. My findings from chapter two provide the first detailed description of Mountain Whitefish behavior and distribution in the Madison River, and suggest that future studies on mechanisms for decline should focus on juvenile survival and recruitment. My sampling recommendations from chapter three can be used to design efficient standardized sampling protocols for age-0 Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River and likely throughout their range.

References

- Bailey, M., and U. R. Sumaila. 2012. Freshwater angling and the B. C. economy. Report to Freshwater Fisheries Society of BC. Victoria, BC. Available: http://www.gofishbc.com/news-and-events/industry-updates/economic-analysis (September 2015).
- Bellmore, J. R., C.V. Baxter, K. Martens, and P. J. Connelly. 2013. The floodplain food webmosaic: a study of its importance to production of salmon and steelhead with implications for their recovery. Ecological Applications 23:189–207.
- Bradford, M. J., and G. Cabana. 1997. Interannual variability in survival rates and the causes of recruitment variability. Pages 469-494 *in* R. C. Chambers and E. A. Trippel, editors. Early Life History and Recruitment in Fish Populations. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1971. Fishes of Montana. Big Sky Books, Bozeman, Montana.
- Clancey, P., and T. Lohrenz. 2013. Madison River drainage fisheries and Madison River westslope cutthroat trout conservation and restoration program. 2012 Annual Report to PPL Montana. Available http://fwp.mt.gov/fishAndWildlife/fishAndWildlifeLibrarySearch.html (August 2015)
- CTC (Canadian Tourism Commission). 2012. Sport fishing and game hunting in Canada: an assessment on the potential international tourism opportumity. CTC Research & Evaluation, Ottowa, ON. Available: http://open.canada.ca/vl/en/doc/publications-449209 (September 2015).
- Eaton, J. G., and R. M. Scheller. 1996. Effects of climate warming on fish thermal habitat in streams of the United States. Limnology and Oceanography 41:1109–1115.
- Grau, K., J. Jorgenson, and N. P. Nickerson. 2014. The economic review of the travel industry in Montana: 2014 biennial edition. Institute for Tourism and Recreation Research Publications. paper 312. Missoula, MT.
- IDFG (Idaho Department of Fish and Game). 2007. Mountain whitefish conservation and management plan for the Big Lost River Drainage, Idaho. Management Report 165-04. IDFG, Boise, Idaho.
- Laakso, M. 1951. Food habits of the Yellowstone whitefish *Prosopium williamsoni* cismontanus (Jordan). Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 80:99–109.

- Lance, M. J., and C. V. Baxter. 2011. Abundance, production, and tissue composition of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a Central Idaho wilderness stream. Northwest Science 85:445–454.
- Lewis, M. S., and Z. King. 2014. Statewide estimates of resident and nonresident hunter & angler expenditures in montana. Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks Human Dimensions Unit Research Summary No. 39, Helena, MT.
- Melquist, W.E., and M. G. Hornocker. 1983. Ecology of river otters in west central Idaho. Wildlife Monographs 83:3–60.
- Meyer, K. A., F. S. Elle, and J. A. Lamansky. 2009. Environmental factors related to the distribution, abundance, and life history characteristics of mountain whitefish in Idaho. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:753–767.
- Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks (MFWP). 2008 2012. Montana statewide angling pressure. Available: http://fwp.mt.gov/fishing/anglingPressureSurveys/ (July 2015).
- Myers R. A. 2002. Recruitment: understanding density-dependence. Pages 123-48*in* P. Hart and J. Reynold, editors, Handbook of Fish Biology and Fisheries Vol 1: Fish Biology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Northcote, T. G., and G. L. Ennis. 1994. Mountain whitefish biology and habitat use in relation to compensation and improvement possibilities. Reviews in Fisheries Science 2:347–371.
- Paragamian, V. L. 2002. Changes in the species composition of the fish community in a reach of the Kootenai River, Idaho, after construction of Libby Dam. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 17:375–383.
- Pontius, R. W., and M. Parker. 1973. Food habits of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard). Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 103:764–773.
- Scott, W. B., and E. J. Crossman. 1973. Freshwater fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin 184, Ottawa, Canada.
- USFWS (U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service). 2011. 2011 National survey of fishing, hunting, and wildlife-associated recreation. FHW/11-NAT, Washington, D. C.
- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015. Real-time data for Montana. Available: http://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/mt/nwis/rt. (July 2015)
- Van Daele, L. J., and H. A. Van Daele. 1982. Factors affecting the productivity of ospreys nesting in west-central Idaho. Condor 84:292–299.

CHAPTER TWO

SPAWNING BEHAVIOR AND JUVENILE DISTRIBUTION OF MOUNTAIN WHITEFISH IN THE MADISON RIVER, MONTANA

Contributions of Authors and Co-Authors

Manuscript in Chapter 2

Author: Jan Boyer

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, implemented study, collected and analyzed data, and authored manuscript.

Co-Author: Christopher Guy

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, provided guidance on data analysis, and edited manuscript.

Co-Author: Molly Webb

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, provided guidance on data analysis, and edited manuscript.

Co-Author: Travis Horton

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, coordinated funding and logistics to support data collection.

Co-Author: Thomas McMahon

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, and reviewed manuscript.

Manuscript Information Page

Jan Boyer, Christopher Guy, Molly Webb, Travis Horton, and Thomas McMahon

Transactions of the American Fisheries Society Status of Manuscript:

X_ Prepared for submission to a peer-reviewed journal

____ Officially submitted to a peer-review journal

_____ Accepted by a peer-reviewed journal

_____ Published in a peer-reviewed journal

Published by The American Fisheries Society

Abstract

Mountain Whitefish were historically common throughout much of the Intermountain West. However, within the last decade Mountain Whitefish have exhibited population-level declines in some rivers. In the Madison River, Montana, anecdotal evidence indicates Mountain Whitefish abundance has declined and the population is skewed toward larger individuals, which is typically symptomatic of recruitment problems. Describing reproductive development, spawning behavior, and juvenile distribution will form a foundation for investigating mechanisms influencing recruitment. We collected otoliths and gonadal samples from fish of all size classes (n =147) to characterize fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity. We implanted radio tags in mature Mountain Whitefish (n = 138) and relocated tagged fish in autumn 2012 - 2014. Timing of spawning was determined from spawning status of captured females (n = 85) and from density of eggs collected on egg mats. In spring 2014, we seined backwater and channel sites (n = 221) to describe age-0 distribution. Mountain Whitefish were highly fecund (18,454 eggs/kg body weight) annual spawners, and age at 50% maturity was 2.0 for males and 2.6 for females. In 2013 and 2014, spawning occurred between the third week of October and first week of November. During spawning, spawning adults and collected embryos were concentrated in the downstream 26 km of the study site, a reach characterized by a complex, braided channel. This reach had the highest C/f of age-0 Mountain Whitefish, and the percentage of spawning adults in the 25 km upstream of a sampling site was positively associated with juvenile C/f. Within this reach, age-0 Mountain Whitefish were associated with silt-laden backwater

and eddy habitats. Future investigations on mechanisms influencing recruitment should be focused on the embryological phase and age-0 fish.

Introduction

The Madison River is a world-renowned recreational fishery (Gates et al. 2009), supporting more angler days than any other river in Montana (MFWP 2006 - 2012), and provides a major economic contribution to southwest Montana (Grau et al. 2014; Lewis and King 2014). Anglers fishing in the Madison River primarily target Brown Trout Salmo trutta and Rainbow Trout Oncorhynchus mykiss, but Mountain Whitefish Prosopium williamsoni are also a part of the recreational fishery. Other than Arctic Grayling *Thymallus arcticus* (present at low abundance), Mountain Whitefish are the only native species available to anglers in the Madison River between Hebgen and Ennis lakes (Brown 1971), and historically provided additional angling opportunities when angling for Brown Trout and Rainbow Trout proved difficult. However, in the last decade anglers have reported declining catches of Mountain Whitefish (P. Clancey, Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks, personal communication). No population trend data on Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River exists to corroborate the angler supposition. However, Mountain Whitefish catch-per-unit-effort (C/f) declined in the late 1990s through the early 2000s and has stabilized at relatively low levels in Hebgen Lake, an impoundment on the upper Madison River (Clancey and Lohrenz 2013)—suggesting that observations made by anglers are plausible.

Declines in abundance of Mountain Whitefish are not confined to the Madison River, Montana. Throughout the southern portion of the range of Mountain Whitefish, there are reports of population-level declines; for example, declines have been reported in the Yampa River, Colorado (K. Rogers, Colorado Wildlife and Parks, personal communication); Big Lost and Kootenai rivers, Idaho (IDFG 2007; Paragamian 2002); and several Wyoming lakes (G. Edwards, Wyoming Fish and Game, personal communication). Although numerous declines have been reported, the exact mechanisms for declines are often unknown. Some studies have documented mechanisms of Mountain Whitefish mortality including whirling disease (Schisler 2010; Pierce et al. 2012), entrainment (Kennedy 2009), high temperatures (Boyd 2008; Brinkman et al. 2013), decreased discharge (Kennedy 2009), and pollutants (Brinkman et al. 2008; Quinn et al. 2010). However, little is known about the above stressors effect on populations (but see IDFG 2007; Kennedy 2009).

Investigations into mechanisms for declines are difficult because of limited ecological information on Mountain Whitefish, relative to other salmonids. A review of Mountain Whitefish biology and habitat use by Northcote and Ennis (1994) located only 112 relevant references published prior to 1994, including grey literature. We located only 22 peer-reviewed papers published since 1994 that addressed Mountain Whitefish ecology (EBSCO Fish, Fisheries & Aquatic Biodiversity database search for "Mountain Whitefish" in abstract). Given the lack of scientific studies and little empirical data for Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, our research questions focused on understanding female reproductive characteristics, spawning habits, and distribution of

juvenile Mountain Whitefish. Recruitment is typically highly variable in fish populations and can limit population growth (Bradford and Cabana 1997; Myers 2002), so describing factors which influence the abundance and distribution of juvenile Mountain Whitefish could provide a foundation for investigating limiting factors.

A better understanding of the above factors is necessary because Mountain Whitefish are an important part of recreational fisheries and river ecosystems. Mountain Whitefish provide angling opportunities throughout their range. In addition, Mountain Whitefish are the only native salmonid in many of the larger rivers in the Intermountain West and can represent the largest proportion of fish biomass (Goodnight and Bjornn 1971; Paragamian 2002; Lance and Baxter 2011), thus they serve an important role in food webs and nutrient cycling (Bellmore et al. 2013). Mountain Whitefish can also act as indicator species for environmental stresses. For example, Mountain Whitefish have a lower thermal tolerance than Rainbow Trout and Brown Trout (Eaton and Scheller 1996; Boyd 2008; Brinkman et al. 2013) and may be an early indicator of ecological responses to increases in water temperature from climate change.

Describing the reproductive ecology and juvenile habitat use of Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River will provide a foundation for investigating the mechanisms regulating population. The specific objectives of this study were to: 1) describe fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity; 2) describe migration, spawning, and identify environmental factors that may influence the timing and location of spawning; and 3) describe the distribution of age-0 Mountain Whitefish at the macroscale (throughout the study site) and mesoscale (among habitat types). Here we

used a variety of techniques including aging, fecundity estimates, telemetry of spawning adults, and seining of age-0 fish to address the objectives above. Addressing the objectives in combination strengthened our understanding of Mountain Whitefish ecology by allowing us to examine how reproductive development affected timing of spawning and how spawning locations affected juvenile distribution.

Methods

Study Area

The Madison River is formed at the confluence of the Firehole and Gibbon rivers in Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming, and flows north 195 km to Three Forks, Montana, where its confluence with the Gallatin and Jefferson rivers forms the Missouri River. The study area is between Hebgen Dam and Madison Dam, a distance of 101 km (Figure 2.1). Both dams lack fish passage structures and are barriers to upstream movement, but downstream passage is possible. Hebgen Dam, which was constructed in 1914, regulates discharge in this section and functions primarily to store and release water for downstream hydropower plants on the Madison and Missouri rivers. Discharge peaks near 48 m³/s during spring runoff and is 25 - 30 m³/s during base flow (10 year daily averages, 2000-2010; USGS 2015a). Hebgen Dam releases hypolimnetic and surface water, and water temperatures remain cold for approximately 50 km downstream throughout the summer (Clancey and Lohrenz 2013). Within the last 10 years, pollutants have not exceeded recommended Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) levels, and cadmium, zinc, and copper are below levels toxic to juvenile Mountain Whitefish (Brinkman et al. 2008; PBS&J 2011).

From Hebgen Lake to Varney Bridge the river is primarily a single channel (Figure 2.1). Below Varney Bridge, the river is braided, with numerous side channels and backwaters. Throughout the study site, the river is characterized by a high gradient (> 4 m/km), predominately cobble substrate, and shallow mean depths (0.5 - 0.6 m). Two mainstem lakes are present within the study site: Earthquake Lake, a deep (58 m) lake formed by a landslide in 1959, and Ennis Lake, a shallow (7 m) impoundment created by the construction of Madison Dam in 1906. The largest tributaries are the West Fork of the Madison, which enters the mainstem 19 km downstream of Earthquake Lake, and O'Dell Creek, a spring creek that enters the mainstem near Ennis Lake.

The native fish assemblage is comprised of Mountain Whitefish, Arctic Grayling (present at extremely low abundance near Ennis Lake), Mountain Sucker *Catostomus platyrhynchus*, Longnose Sucker *Catostomus catostomus*, White Sucker *Catostomus commersonii*, Longnose Dace *Rhinichthys cataractae*, and Mottled Sculpin *Cottus bairdi*. Non-native species present are Rainbow Trout, Brown Trout, and Utah Chub *Gila atraria* (Brown 1971; Vincent 1987). The parasite *Myxobolus cerebralis*, the causative agent of whirling disease, was first detected in the Madison in 1994, and was responsible for declines in Rainbow Trout (Vincent 1996; Baldwin et al. 1998). However, Rainbow Trout population abundance has rebounded and stabilized at approximately 85% of pre-whirling disease (1951–1990) estimates (Clancey and Lohrenz 2013).

The majority of land in the Madison River Basin is federally owned; the headwaters are within Yellowstone National Park and most of the mountainous terrain surrounding the Madison Valley is owned by the U.S. Forest Service. Lower elevation land adjacent to the study site is primarily privately owned, with small parcels of state and federal land. Public lands are managed for recreation, wilderness, timber, and grazing. The primary land use in the valley is grazing, with irrigated agriculture near Ennis, Montana. In 2011, estimated angler pressure within the study site was $88,252 \pm 4,325$ angler days (MFWP 2012). Fishing effort in the Madison River is high relative to other lotic systems in Montana. From 2005 through 2010 the study site had the highest use (in angler days) of any river section in Montana (MFWP 2006 - 2010). Harvest regulations on Mountain Whitefish are 20 daily and 40 in possession, but few anglers harvest Mountain Whitefish (P. Clancey, personal communication).

Reproductive Development

Gonadal tissue was collected from Mountain Whitefish sampled with boatmounted electrofishing (Smith Root VVP 15 B, 200 - 300 V, 2 - 3 A) or angling in May and October 2012 before spawning, and in late October and November 2013 during the spawning period. Length (TL, ± 1 mm) and weight (± 1 g) were measured on all fish sampled. In October 2012, six fish per 10-mm length class were sacrificed for gonadal tissue and sagittal otoliths (n = 147). In October 2012, females were classified in the field as immature or non-reproductive if ovaries contained oocytes ≤ 1.5 mm in diameter, and reproductive if they contained ovarian follicles > 1.5 mm diameter. Males were classified as immature or non-reproductive if testes were pink and threadlike and reproductive if they were large, white, and milty (Strange 1996). Reproductive females were defined as fish which were mid-vitellogenic, late-vitellogenic, or post vitellogenic in autumn, and males were considered reproductive if testicular stage was mid spermatogenic or ripe in autumn (Table 2.1). A section of ovary or testes (1 cm³) was collected and stored in 10% phosphate buffered formalin (1:10 tissue:fixative) from all fish, except 28 mature females whose entire ovaries were collected to estimate fecundity. Histological analysis of gonadal tissue was used to confirm the accuracy of macroscopic identification of sex and stage of maturity in the field.

Gonadal tissue was processed histologically by embedding in paraffin, sectioning at 5 μ m, and staining by Periodic Acid Schiff stain (PAS; Luna 1968). Slides were examined under a compound scope (5-100x, Leica DM2000), and the germ cells were scored for stage of maturation according to a protocol modified from Blazer (2002) and Goetz et al. (2011) (Table 2.1).

Fecundity of individual females was estimated gravimetrically. Each ovary was weighed whole (± 0.01 g). A subsample containing 50-100 ovarian follicles was dissected from the anterior, middle, and posterior sections of each ovary. Weight and ovarian follicle count were recorded for each subsample. Fecundity (*F*) was estimated for each female using the equation:

$$F = \frac{\left[\sum_{i} \frac{Oi}{Wi}\right]}{n} (W_{ovaries}),$$

where O_i was the subsample ovarian follicle count, W_i was the subsample weight, n was number of subsamples, and $W_{ovaries}$ was the combined weight of both ovaries. All weights were wet weights.

Simple linear regression was used to evaluate the relationships among fecundity, length, and weight. Fecundity and weight data from other rivers were obtained from the literature (Brown 1952; Northcote and Ennis 1994; Wydoski 2001; Meyer et al. 2009) and compared graphically to fecundity of Mountain Whitefish from the Madison River.

Age was determined from sagittal otoliths. Otoliths were set in epoxy, sectioned with a low speed saw (Buehler Isomet 11-1280-160), and viewed under a binocular microscope. Annuli were counted by two readers to determine age. Age and length at 50% and 90% maturity was estimated using binomial logistic regression in R (R Core Development Team). Separate values were estimated for males and females, because males typically mature at smaller sizes (Wydoski 2001; Meyer et al. 2009).

Fish Capture and Radio-tagging

Mountain Whitefish were sampled throughout the study site using boat mounted electrofishing (boom or mobile anode, Smith Root VVP 15 B, 500 V, 2 - 3 A) and angling in the spring, when water temperatures were < 15°C to minimize stress during surgery and limit risk of infection (Deters et al. 2010). Fish were anaesthetized, weighed to the nearest gram, and measured to the nearest millimeter TL. Fish greater than 450 g (9 g tag was less than 2% of body weight; Cooke et al. 2012) were selected for tagging. Radio transmitters (ATS, model F1205 body implant with internal coil antenna) were implanted in 53 mature females and 17 mature males in 2012, and in 53 mature females and 13 mature males in 2013, using methods modified from Cooke and Bunt (2001) and Wagner et al. (2011). Sex was determined using an otoscope to view gonads before radio transmitter insertion.

Radio Tracking

Radio tags transmitted 24-h per day from 1 September through 30 November for two years. Radio-tagged fish were relocated from September through November in 2012, 2013, and 2014. Radio tracking was primarily conducted from a drift boat or raft using an omni-directional whip antenna, handheld three-element yagi antenna, and an ATS Challenger R2000 receiver. Additional tracking was conducted from vehicles and on foot where access allowed, primarily upstream of rkm 42.3 (Figure 2.1). Fish locations were obtained by a combination of triangulation and floating directly over fish. A waypoint was recorded in UTMs for each fish location. Location accuracy was 6 ± 7 m (mean \pm SD) in blind tests (n = 12) using transmitters placed in the river, and never exceeded 20 m. Status of each relocated fish (alive, dead, or unknown) was determined based on movement. In early autumn (water temperature > 8° C) fish were located once weekly. Once water temperature reached 8° C, we attempted to locate fish twice weekly. Areas with fewer fish were floated less often to allow for twice weekly tracking in areas with higher abundances of fish. Two continuous recording fixed stations (Lotek Wireless, SRX-400A) were deployed at the Ennis Lake inlets from 19 October to 30 November 2013 and 30 October to 17 November 2014 to detect fish moving between the Madison River and Ennis Lake. Mobile tracking and fixed recording stations recorded 1,437 relocations. We located 40 fish alive in autumn 2012, 58 in 2013, and 41 in 2014 (1-47 relocations per fish). Fish located alive greater than or equal to six times were included in movement analyses and location maps.

Timing of Spawning

Embryo collection and examination of mature females was used to confirm spawning and determine timing of spawning. Embryos were collected using egg mats constructed of a 0.91-m x 0.54-m rectangle of natural fiber furnace filter attached to a ¹/₂in (13 mm) rebar frame attached to a cinderblock anchor. From 10 October through 27 November 2013 and from 9 October through 20 November 2014, 18 egg mats were deployed near suspected spawning areas that were informed by tracking adults. Egg mats were examined twice a week and Mountain Whitefish embryos were counted and removed. We were able to identify embryos because Mountain Whitefish and Brown Trout are the only fall spawners in the Madison River, and Mountain Whitefish embryos are smaller (~3 mm; Sigler 1951; Brown 1952) than Brown Trout embryos (5-6 mm; Scott and Crossman 1973).

Angling and boat mounted boom electrofishing (Smith Root VVP 15 B, 125 - 300 V, 2 - 3 A) were used to capture mature female Mountain Whitefish and assess spawning status (2013: n = 49, 2014: n = 50) from 27 September through 15 November 2013 and from 29 September through 5 November 2014. For all captured Mountain Whitefish, length, sex, and spawning stage (reproductive, spawning, spent, or immature) were recorded. Sex and spawning stage were determined externally based on observed gametes, tubercles, and body shape. Three reproductive females and three spent females, as determined from external characteristics, were sacrificed to verify spawning status histologically.

Habitat Characterization

The study site was divided into eight reaches (varying from 3.5 to 25.8 km) to characterize habitat at the macroscale (Frissell et al. 1986). Aerial photographs, geological maps, and topographical maps were used to delineate reaches based on boundary features including bedrock types, tributary junctions, lakes, and major elevation changes (Table 2.2; Figure 2.1). Boundary elevations, thalweg length, side channel (> 6 m width) lengths, and valley length were measured for all river reaches, and channel width and width between scarps nearest each river bank were measured at 500-m intervals in ArcMap 10.1 (ESRI) using aerial photos, digital elevation models, and topographical maps (Montana State Library 2015; USGS 2015b). Reach gradient was measured by dividing elevation change by thalweg length. Sinuosity was calculated by dividing total length of all channels by thalweg length (Friend and Sinha 1993). Mean channel and scarp widths were calculated for each reach.

At a smaller scale (sampling sites 200 - 400 m in length) depth, substrate, and velocity were measured at availability and use sites in autumn 2013 and 2014 during base flow. Availability sites characterized river habitat between Raynolds Pass Bridge and Ennis Lake. Random sampling, stratified by reach, was used to select 30 availability sampling sites, spaced > 400-m apart to avoid overlap. Use sampling sites were at confirmed spawning sites (2013: n = 5, 2014: n = 8) where embryos were collected on egg mats. At each spawning site two diagonal downstream transects were followed by rowing a boat, and at each availability site, four diagonal downstream transects were

rowed (sampled length 250 - 350 m). At each transect, depth and substrate were measured at five points evenly spaced across the channel width. Depth was measured to the nearest 0.1 m using a measuring rod. The dominant and secondary substrate types (e.g., bedrock, boulder, cobble, gravel, sand, silt; Platts et al. 1983) within a 1 m radius of the depth measurement were visually estimated. A waterproof video camera (Contour; Roam) attached to the measuring rod at 0.6 m above the substrate was used to estimate dominant and secondary substrate in areas too deep for field observations. Three velocity measurements, spaced evenly across the channel width and level with our landing point at the downstream end of the final rowed transect, were made using the orange float method (Gordon et al. 1997). If sites contained side channels, substrate and depth measurements were made along waded diagonal transects in each side channel, with three measurements per transect.

Water temperature was measured every 5 minutes from 5 May through 30 November each year at four locations (rkm 29.0, 42.0, 57.7, 91.1) using temperature loggers (Onset; HOBO Pendant UA-001-64). Mean, maximum, and minimum daily temperatures were calculated using temperature records from all temperature loggers. Temperature loggers were deployed during the 2014-2015 incubation period, from 3 December 2014 through 7 March 2015, to compare winter water temperatures between randomly selected availability sites stratified by reach (n = 21) and confirmed spawning sites (n = 7). Discharge data was obtained from three U. S. Geological Survey stations within the study site.

Analysis of Spawning and Movement Data

Spawning dates were determined based on embryo density from egg mats and reproductive stage of captured females. Embryo densities (embryos/m²/day) were calculated for individual egg mats. Mean daily embryo density was calculated for all egg mats combined. In 2013 and 2014, we defined the start date of the spawning period as the first day when either a spawning female was captured or we collected \geq 1 embryo on an egg mat. The start of the postspawning period was defined as the day when we captured only spent females or daily embryo densities declined to < 10% of the maximum density. Movement rates were similar among years (see Results) and females were reproductive in early October each year. Thus, in 2012, the spawning period was defined (for movement mixed effects models) by calculating mean start and end dates of spawning periods from 2013 and 2014.

All fish locations were indexed to rkm (\pm 0.1 km) using ArcMap 10.1 (ESRI). Minimum daily total and net distances moved were calculated for each fish (Rogers and White 2007). Total movement rate was calculated by dividing rkm distance between successive relocations by number of days elapsed between relocations. Net movement rate was calculated by dividing the difference in rkm between subsequent relocations by number of days elapsed; thus, upstream movement yielded positive net movement rates and downstream movement yielded negative net movement rates. All movement rates represented minimum movement rates. Water temperature and discharge (USGS 2015a) were graphically compared to weekly movement rates to assess relationships. Linear mixed effects models (Zuur et al. 2009) were fit using the R package 'nlme' (Pinheiro et

al. 2013) to test for differences in net and total movement rates between males and females, among years, and among periods (prespawning, spawning, and postspawning). Periods were defined as described above. Mixed-effects models included categorical fixed effects for sex, period, year, and an interaction between sex and period, and a random effect that accounted for repeated measures on individual fish by nesting period within year and fish (Pinheiro and Bates 2000; Zuur et al. 2009). Therefore, individual radio-tagged fish were the experimental units for all comparisons.

Kernel density maps were used to illustrate locations of Mountain Whitefish during the prespawning, spawning, and postspawning periods, and to identify congregation areas. Frequency of relocations was standardized to one relocation per fish per week by randomly selecting one relocation on weeks a fish was located multiple times. We pooled sex and years on maps because movement analyses showed no differences in movement rates between sexes or among years (see Results). Kernel density maps were constructed for each period using the kernel density function in ArcMap (ESRI) and a search radius of 2 km. This scale was appropriate for comparing fish densities among reaches (3.5 km to 25.8 km in length), and accounted for observed movement rates and the possibility that spawning sites may be several kilometers from telemetry relocations. This function calculates a value for each pixel in the map, with higher values indicating more relocations of tagged fish nearby. The value is dependent on the number of locations within 2 km and the distance to relocations, such that closer locations are weighted more heavily than relocations at the edge of the search radius.

Binomial logistic regression models were fit to habitat data from 2013 and 2014 separately, to determine if mean water velocity, mean depth, proportions of gravel, and proportions of boulder were associated with the odds of a site being used for spawning. At each site, mean water velocity and depth were calculated, and substrate was converted to a set of continuous variables by calculating the proportion of primary substrate observations for each substrate type. Proportions of silt and sand were not included in the analysis because these substrate types were rare; for example, of 1,579 dominant substrate observations, silt was observed 16 times and sand 14 times. Proportion of cobble was not included because it was collinear with proportions of gravel and boulder and the small sample size of spawning sites (2013: n = 5, 2014: n = 8) limited the number of explanatory variables we could use in the logistic regression models.

Mean daily temperatures and daily temperature change, pooled by reach and type (availability or spawning), were calculated for temperature loggers deployed during winter 2014 through 2015. Simple linear regression was used to determine if mean daily water temperature and temperature range at spawning and availability sites within the same reach exhibited a 1:1 relationship.

Age-0 Distribution

In spring 2014, seining (3-m x 1.5-m beach seine, 1.6-mm bar mesh) was used to describe age-0 Mountain Whitefish distribution. Sampling in 2013 (Chapter 3) demonstrated that age-0 Mountain Whitefish were rarely present in small channels (≤ 6 m wide) and were only common in large channels when slow velocity areas (≥ 2 m²) were present. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish were patchily distributed and present at relatively

low numbers in the Madison River (Chapter 3), so in order to describe distribution throughout the study site we restricted 2014 sampling to habitats likely to have age-0 Mountain Whitefish present. Thus, we sampled backwaters, channels > 6 m wide (restricted to sites with $\ge 2 \text{ m}^2$ of slow velocity habitat), and four tributaries (O'Dell Creek, Jack Creek, Ruby Creek, and the West Fork; Figure 2.1). Aerial maps were used to delineate backwaters, 200 m channel lengths (channel > 6 m wide), and 50 m tributary lengths (within 500 m of confluence with Madison River). In each reach (Table 2.2), random stratified sampling (strata were backwaters or large channel) was used to select sampling sites (n = 221). In tributaries, random sampling was used to select sites (n =16). In the field, wadeable sampling sites 50 m in length (that included $\ge 2 \text{ m}^2$ of slow velocity habitat) were identified in pre-selected large channel sites. Sample sizes were estimated from a power analysis using 2013 seining data (see Chapter 3).

Number of seine hauls varied depending on area of wadeable habitat at a site and presence of obstructions (e.g., submerged logs, boulders), but a minimum of three seine hauls were conducted at each site. Total length (TL) was measured for all Mountain Whitefish (± 1 mm). At each sampled site, water temperature (± 0.1 °C), maximum depth (± 0.1 m), and channel width (± 0.5 m) were measured. Length and width (± 0.5 m) was measured for each backwater. Primary and secondary substrate, turbidity, and water velocity were visually estimated in each sampled site (Table 2.3).

Maps and logistic regression were used to relate age-0 Mountain Whitefish catch data to spawning adult locations, habitat types (channel, backwater, tributary), and habitat characteristics. Data from reach 1 were limited, thus this reach was not included in the logistic regression. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f (number per seine haul) was calculated for each sampled site. A point map of age-0 Mountain Whitefish presence or absence, and a kernel density map of age-0 C/f were created with ArcMap 10.1 (ESRI). No age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured at a large proportion of sites (140 of 221 sites), subsequently C/f data were overdispersed. Poisson distributions are not suitable for modeling count data with zero-inflation and overdispersion, so zero-altered-negativebinomial models (ZANB) (Mullahy 1986; Zuur et al. 2009) were used to evaluate relationships between C/f and habitat characteristics.

All habitat variables (Table 2.3) and *C/f* were plotted to evaluate relationships. In addition to graphs, simple linear regression was used to explore possible correlations between log *C/f* of age-0 fish and percentages of spawners within 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, or 25 km upstream. Examination of plots suggested relationships between *C/f* and habitat type, dominant substrate, channel width, water velocity, and percentage of spawning adults within 25 km (Table 2.3). The above variables were fit to a rich ZANB model using the R package 'pscl' (Zeileis et al. 2008), and backwards maximum likelihood selection was used to select the most parsimonious model. All statistical analysis was performed in R using $\alpha = 0.05$ unless noted otherwise.

<u>Results</u>

Reproductive Development

Fecundity estimates varied from 4,369 to 25,349 for females from 291 to 1254 g (309 to 493 mm TL, ages 2 – 14). Fecundity was significantly correlated with weight (R^2

= 0.91, df = 26, P < 0.0001; Figure 2.2) and length (R^2 = 0.82, df = 26, P < 0.0001) and was similar to other water bodies throughout the species range (Figure 2.2).

Histological examination of a subset of gonadal samples (n = 120) corroborated the field determinations of maturity and developmental stage (Figures 2.3 and 2.4). Ninety-seven percent of the females age-3 and older were reproductive and all males age-3 and older were reproductive. Ovaries collected from reproductive females contained ovarian follicles at one of two stages (mid vitellogenic or late vitellogenic). Females showed varying levels of yolk and lipid coalescence and centered or off-center nuclei (Figure 2.3). Examination of vitellogenic ovaries revealed primarily intact ovarian follicles, and spent ovaries had primarily post-ovulatory follicles. Follicular atresia of developing oocytes was limited (< 10%) in both vitellogenic and spent ovarian samples (Figure 2.3).

Female Mountain Whitefish matured at slightly older ages and larger sizes than males (Figure 2.5). Fifty percent of female Mountain Whitefish were sexually mature at age 2.6 (95% CI, 2.1 - 3.3) and 90% were mature at age 3.7 (95% CI, 2.2 – 5.6). Males were 50% mature at age 2.0 (95% CI, 2.0 - 2.1) and 90% mature at age 2.1 (95% CI, 2.1 - 2.2). For females, length at 50% maturity was 329 mm (95% CI, 313 – 346) and at 90% maturity was 378 mm (95% CI, 339 - 411). Males were 50% mature at 300 mm (95% CI, 279 – 318) and 90% mature at 340 mm (95% CI, 314 to 361). Age at first maturity was 2 years for females and males.
Timing of Spawning

In 2013, the first evidence of spawning was an ovulating female captured on 19 October. The last spawning female was captured on 10 November. On 11 November density of embryos collected on egg mats declined to 0.3 embryos/m², 7% of the maximum embryo density (4.27 embryos/m²; Figure 2.6). Based on the above observations, we defined the 2013 spawning period as 19 October to 10 November. In 2014, embryos were first collected on 16 October. All females (n = 19) captured by electrofishing on 5 November were spent (Figure 2.6). Given the above information, the spawning period was determined to be from 16 October to 4 November in 2014.

Movement

Mean total movement > 1 km/day was first observed during the first week in October in all years (Figure 2.7). In general, mean total movement for both sexes was greatest during the spawning period. Total movement rates varied between the prespawning, spawning, and postspawning periods, and these variations depended on the sex of fish; there was a significant interaction between sex and period (F = 5.89, df = 180, P = 0.0033). Total movement rates were higher for females than males during the spawning period, but total movement rates were higher for males in the prespawning and postspawning periods (Figure 2.7). We did not detect differences in mean total movement rates among years (F=2.61, df = 49, P = 0.084).

The majority of movement was downstream during the transition between the prespawning and spawning periods (negative net movement values; Figure 2.7). Most tagged fish moved downstream during the prespawning and spawning seasons (n = 24,

37, 16 in 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively), although some tagged fish moved short distances upstream (n = 1, 5, 6 in 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively), and others remained within 1 rkm for the entire tracking period (n = 7, 14, 9 in 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively). The mean distance (furthest downstream location – furthest upstream location) of spawning movements was 25.5 km (SD = 21.7 km). The longest distance an individual fish moved was 68.1 km downstream, and the shortest distance was 0.1 km. Mean net movement varied between the prespawning, spawning, and postspawning periods, and these variations depended on the sex of fish; there was a significant interaction between sex and period (F = 4.11, df = 180, P = 0.018). Male movement was more downstream during the prespawning period and female movement was more downstream during the spawning season (Figure 2.7). There were no differences in mean net movement among years (F = 1.04, df = 49, P = 0.37). Direction of movement was variable, but trended upstream during the last week of the spawning period and the postspawning period.

The declining trend in autumn water temperatures varied among years, with a relatively slow decline punctuated by rapid cooling periods in 2012, the steepest decline in 2013, and a relatively slow decline in 2014 (Figure 2.7). For example, in early September water temperature was similar among all years, but during the first two weeks of October mean water temperature was 9.9°C in 2012, 7.8°C in 2013, and 10.9°C in 2014 (Figure 2.7). Water temperature declined more rapidly during the 2013 prespawning period (slope = -1.5°C/wk) compared to 2012 (-1.1°C/wk) and 2014 (-0.8°C/wk). In 2012, a sharp decline in water temperature (12.7 - 8.6°C) was observed

between 2 October and 4 October, but in 2013 and 2014 water temperature declined more gradually during the prespawning period (Figure 2.7). One consequence of this variability in temperature during the prespawning season was that spawning related fish movements were observed in water temperatures varying from 2.7°C to 14.8°C (Figure 2.7). During the spawning period, mean water temperature was 5.6°C in 2013 and 8.2°C in 2014 (Figure 2.7). Water temperature during the 2013 spawning period was variable, with mean daily water temperature declining 3.0°C from 27 October to 28 October, and minimum temperatures of < 1°C recorded on 2 days. Conversely, temperature declined gradually throughout the entire 2014 spawning period, and the lowest temperature recorded was 4.1°C (Figure 2.7).

We also examined lunar phase as a possible cue for movement and spawning, but did not find any evidence that certain lunar phases were associated with movement or spawning events. Among 2012, 2013, and 2014, the start of spawning movements, peak movement, and the start of spawning occurred during various lunar phases.

Spawning Locations

Fish relocations and embryo collection suggested most spawning occurred downstream of rkm 73. Each year during the prespawning period, tagged fish were evenly distributed throughout the study site (Table 2.2; Figure 2.8 panel A). Mountain Whitefish were relocated throughout the entire study site (from 0.9 km downstream of Hebgen Dam to the Ennis Lake inlet) during the spawning period, but a disproportionate number of fish were observed downstream of rkm 56, with the highest numbers relocated between rkm 73 and 78 (Table 2.2; Figure 2.8 panel B). Collection of embryos on egg mats confirmed spawning at rkm 73.2, 74.7, 76.8, 77.2, 82.9, 85.2, 85.4, and 90.5 (Figure 2.8).

During the postspawning period, fish were relocated throughout the river and in Ennis and Earthquake lakes (Figure 2.8 panel C). In 2013, 60% of the fish (33 of 55) remained in the river after spawning, 35% (19 of 55) entered Ennis Lake between 24 October and 24 November, and 5% (3 of 55) entered Earthquake Lake. We were unable to accurately determine numbers of fish in lakes in 2012 and 2014 because fixed stations were not operational during the entire movement period.

Spawning Habitat

At the macroscale, mean bench width and braiding were highest where the largest concentration of Mountain Whitefish spawning occurred. Spawning was concentrated in reach 7 (rkm 74.3 – 100.1), which had the highest braiding index value and mean bench width (Table 2.2). Fish were most frequently located in reaches 6 (rkm 57.7 – 74.3) and 7 during the spawning period, but fish located in reach 6 were typically moving through this reach (i.e., next relocation was > 5 rkm upstream or downstream). Spawning sites confirmed with embryo collection were in reach 7 (n = 7) or 1.1 km upstream of the reach 7 boundary in reach 6 (n = 1).

At the mesoscale, we found little evidence for selection of specific depth, water velocity, or substrate at spawning sites (Figure 2.9). There was no evidence that depth (2013: Z = 1.072, df = 29, P = 0.284, 2014: Z = 0.875, df = 33, P = 0.382), water velocity (2013: Z = -1.870, df = 29, P = 0.062, 2014: Z = -1.136, df = 33, P = 0.256), or proportion of gravel (2013: Z = -0.819, df = 29, P = 0.413, 2014: Z = -1.461, df = 33, P

= 0.144) were associated with the odds of a site being used for spawning. There was no evidence that proportion of boulder was associated with spawning use in 2013 (Z = -1.232, df = 29, P = 0.218), but in 2014 the proportion of boulder was negatively associated with odds of spawning use (Z = -2.093, df = 33, P = 0.036).

Winter water temperatures were relatively warm (mean = 2.3 °C) and stable (mean daily temperature change = 0.7 °C) at sites near Hebgen Dam (reach 1) and Earthquake Lake (reach 3) between 3 December 2014 and 7 March 2015. Sites > 20 km downstream of a lake (reaches 4 – 7) had colder (mean = 1.6 °C) and more variable (mean daily temperature change = 1.6 °C) water temperatures during the same time period (Figure 2.10). Mean daily water temperature and mean daily water temperature change were similar between spawning sites and availability sites within the same reach (Figure 0.10; Figure 0.11).

Age-0 Distribution

A total of 1449 age-0 Mountain Whitefish were sampled between 13 May and 12 June 2014. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured at 82 sampled sites and not detected at 139 sites (Figure 2.8 panel D). At sites with age-0 Mountain Whitefish, *C/f* varied from 0.1 to 17.

At the macroscale, age-0 Mountain Whitefish catch was highest downstream of rkm 73.0. For example, 90% of age-0 Mountain Whitefish were sampled downstream of rkm 73.0, although this reach accounted for only 29% of study-site length and 39% of sites sampled (Figure 2.8 panel E). The reach between Hebgen Dam and Earthquake Lake (3.5 km, 3% of sites sampled) represented 8% of the total catch. Only 2% of age-0

Mountain Whitefish were captured between Earthquake Lake and rkm 73.0 (67% of study site length and 58% of sites sampled). Spawning was also concentrated downstream of rkm 73.0 (Figure 2.8 panel B), and age-0 presence (Z = 5.77, df = 15, P = < 0.0001) and C/f (Z = 2.91, df = 15, P = 0.004) were positively associated with numbers of adults within the 25 km upstream of a sampling site (Table 2.4). Correlations between log C/f and percent of adults upstream of a site were weak when adults within 1, 5, 10, and 15 km were considered ($r^2 = 2.2 \times 10^{-5} - 0.09$, df = 220, P = < 0.0001 - 0.94), slightly stronger at 20 km ($r^2 = 0.19$, df = 220, P = < 0.0001), and the best at 25 km ($r^2 = 0.31$, df = 220, P = < 0.0001).

Age-0 Mountain Whitefish were present in 27% of channel sites (34 of 123), 55% of the backwater sites (47 of 84), and 7% of the tributary sites (1 of 15). We did not find evidence that the odds of Mountain Whitefish presence differed between backwaters and channels (Z = -0.206, df = 15, P = 0.837), but Mountain Whitefish were less likely to be present in tributaries (Z = -2.003, df = 15, P = 0.045; Table 2.4) compared to channels. Dominant substrate was the best predictor of age-0 presence. The odds of age-0 Mountain Whitefish presence were higher at sites where silt was the dominant substrate (Z = 3.075, df = 15, P = 0.002; Table 2.4; Figure 2.12). Silt-laden sites where age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured included backwaters, eddies, beaver ponds, and slow velocity areas immediately downstream of islands and rock bars.

At sites with age-0 Mountain Whitefish present, C/f was variable and difficult to predict using mesoscale habitat variables. Models predicted that where age-0 Mountain Whitefish were present, C/f was higher at sites with cobble (Z = 2.353, df = 15, P = 0.019), gravel (Z = 2.222, df = 15, P = 0.026), and silt (Z = 2.811, df = 15, P = 0.005) dominant substrates, when compared to boulder (Table 2.4).

Discussion

Our study investigated the reproductive development, spawning behavior, and early-life distribution of Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River—a world-renowned fishery and an important watershed in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem. We used a variety of methods to investigate multiple life stages with the understanding that we would begin to clarify the mechanisms causing the decline in Mountain Whitefish abundance. Here, we found that fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity were similar to values reported for other Mountain Whitefish populations studied (Brown 1952; Northcote and Ennis 1994; Meyer et al. 2009). Adult movement patterns were similar among years despite variable water temperature schedules during the spawning season. Spawning activity and age-0 fish were concentrated in the downstream 26 km of the study site, a braided area with complex habitat. Finally, age-0 Mountain Whitefish were sampled near spawning areas and were most often found in slow velocity, silt-laden habitats.

Reproductive Development

Female Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River were highly fecund annual spawners, typically matured by age 3, and oocytes in ovarian samples exhibited group synchronous maturation. Among fish age 3 and older, 97% of females were and all males were reproductive, demonstrating that fish in this population spawn annually once sexual maturity is reached. Mountain Whitefish are group synchronous spawners, but spawning dates of individual females likely vary by several weeks, which matches our observations of a 23-day spawning period in 2013 and a 22-day spawning period in 2014.

Mountain Whitefish fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity were similar between the Madison River and other rivers at similar latitude and elevation. In the Madison River, Mountain Whitefish fecundity relative to weight was comparable to values reported for fish in the Gallatin, Yellowstone, and Missouri rivers, Montana (Brown 1952), the Logan and Blacks Fork rivers, Utah (Sigler 1951; Wydoski 2001), and Phelps Lake, Wyoming (Hagen 1970). Age at 50% maturity in the Madison River was 2.6 years for females and 2.0 years for males. Mountain Whitefish matured at similar ages in in the Snake River Basin, Idaho, where age at 50% maturity was 2.7 for females and 2.0 for males (Meyer et al. 2009), and in the Logan River, Utah, where 70% of fish were mature at age-3 (Sigler 1951). Annual spawning was also reported for Snake River Basin populations (Meyer et al. 2009). Lower fecundity and delayed maturation have been reported at higher altitudes and latitudes, where low temperatures presumably limit growth and reproductive development. Maturation was delayed in a high elevation stream, the Blacks Fork River in Utah, where males reached maturity by age 4 and females reached maturity at ages 4 - 7 (Wydoski 2001), and in the Sheep River, Alberta, where 90 % of fish were mature at age-4 (Thompson and Davies 1976). There is no evidence to suggest that fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity for the Mountain Whitefish population in the Madison River are atypical when compared to stable or increasing populations. That is, the similarities in fecundity and age at maturity

between Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River and other rivers at similar latitude and elevation suggests that low fecundity or infrequent spawning are not plausible limiting factors.

Histological examination of gonadal tissue also suggested that the Mountain Whitefish population in the Madison River is not limited by reproductive development. Evidence of environmental stressors, which decrease fecundity or increase the length of spawning cycles, can be observed in ovarian tissue as widespread follicular atresia or accumulations of pigments and macrophages (Blazer 2002). We did not observe the above symptoms. In vitellogenic females and spent females, we observed primarily normal ovarian follicles or postovulatory follicles and < 10% atresia. The only evidence of limited reproduction was one non-reproductive age-6 female sampled in October 2012. All other females age-3 and older were reproductive, indicating that annual spawning is typical at a population level, and biennial or longer spawning cycles are rare.

Our characterization of reproductive development in the Madison River is useful because information on Mountain Whitefish reproductive development is limited relative to other salmonids. To our knowledge, our study provides the first histological description of gametogenesis in Mountain Whitefish and the second report on spawning periodicity (Meyer et al. 2009). Age-at-maturity and fecundity have been described in several other populations, but our study augments a relatively sparse knowledge base and facilitates comparative studies.

Movement, Spawning, and Age-0 Distribution

After three years of studying the movement of Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, clear patterns emerged. Spawning related movement began in early October, with males moving first to spawning sites, females following, and spawning occurring during the last two weeks of October and first week of November. Spawning occurred at water temperatures between 13.3°C and 0.0°C, and movement patterns were similar among years with varying water temperature schedules, suggesting that factors other than declining water temperature may provide movement and spawning cues. Spawning sites were concentrated in the lower portion of the study site where the river starts to become braided and valley bottom width is widest. In May and June, age-0 fish were most common in braided reaches, and age-0 presence was associated with protected, silt-laden habitat, and possibly with larval drift patterns. After spawning, most adult Mountain Whitefish returned to river habitats, but some fish moved into Ennis and Earthquake lakes, presumably to overwinter.

Prespawning movements in the Madison River were similar in distance and speed to Mountain Whitefish movements reported in other rivers, but net direction of movements differed. Most Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River moved varying distances (1.0 - 68.1 km) downstream during the prespawning and spawning periods, and longer movements were observed for fish moving downstream than for fish moving upstream. Fish that moved downstream typically moved rapidly enough to reach spawning areas within hours or days; for example, a fish relocated five times in less than 2 h moved at 4.2 km/h, and total movement rates calculated from biweekly relocations of

individual fish sometimes exceeded 10 km/d. Mountain Whitefish moved similar distances in other rivers; for example, movements from < 1 km to 80 km were observed in the Clearwater River, Idaho and Blackfoot River, Montana (Pettit and Wallace 1975; Pierce et al. 2012). However, migratory Mountain Whitefish typically moved upstream to mainstem or tributary sites before spawning in the Methow River, Washington (Benjamin et al. 2014); Yellowstone River, Montana (Liebelt 1970); Blackfoot River, Montana (Pierce et al. 2012); and Clearwater River, Idaho (Pettit and Wallace 1975).

Females and males moved similar distances throughout the tracking period, but timing of movements varied between sexes. Total movement rates were higher for males during the prespawning period, and higher for females during the first two weeks of the spawning period. Males likely began spawning movements before females because early arrival at breeding sites maximizes male reproductive opportunities (Morbey 2000). This reproductive strategy has been described for a variety of vertebrate taxa (Morbey and Ydenberg 2001), including fishes such as pacific salmon *Oncorhynchus spp.* (Morbey 2000; Quinn 2005), redhorse *Moxostoma spp.* (Reid 2006), and rainbow smelt *Osmerus mordax* (Lischka and Magnuson 2006).

Timing of spawning movements in the Madison River was not correlated with water temperature, although declining water temperature is believed to be an important cue for migration and spawning of autumn spawning fish. For example, decreasing water temperatures were correlated with spawning movements of Bull Trout *Salvelinus confluentus* (Swanberg 1997; Brenkman et al. 2001) and Brown Trout (Riedel and Peter 2013). Water temperatures in the Madison River declined during prespawning

movements and spawning, but we observed wide variability in temperatures, rates of temperature decline, and dates of rapid decreases in temperature among years. Prespawning movements began during the first week of October in all 3 years, and in 2012 water temperature declined rapidly during this week, in 2013 the rate of temperature decline decreased during this week, and in 2014 temperature declined for several days then warmed. Thus, either water temperature cues are more complex than we can resolve given our data or additional factors act as cues for movement and spawning. Lunar cycles can also cue spawning (Forsythe et al. 2012), but we did not observe any correlations between lunar phase and spawning in the Madison River. In addition to unpredictable environmental factors such as temperature, fish reproductive cycles can also be influenced by predictable environmental factors including photoperiod (Vlaming 1972; Bromage et al. 2001) and by genetic factors (Quinn et al. 2000). Water temperatures earlier in the year can also affect timing of spawning (Bromage et al. 2001; Warren et al. 2012), and in the Madison River females began vitellogenesis in May suggesting spring and summer conditions may influence rates of ovarian development. The similarities in timing of spawning and movement we observed among years with varying water temperature schedules suggest that factors such as genetics or photoperiod, which are relatively constant among years, could be important spawning cues.

Net downstream movement during the prespawning and early spawning periods led to a concentration of spawning activity downstream of rkm 73.0. Interestingly, the Madison River changes near rkm 73.0, transitioning from a single channel confined between high benches to a braided channel with a wider floodplain. Limited sampling in

the moderately braided reach between Hebgen and Earthquake Lakes (rkm 0.0 - 3.5) confirmed that spawning also occurs in this reach (ovulating female captured and evening observations of spawning aggregations). We found little evidence that mesoscale habitat features or winter temperatures were associated with spawning site selection. It is possible that spawning is concentrated in these reaches because adults are returning to rearing areas. Homing to natal areas for spawning is well documented in anadromous salmonid populations (Quinn 2000), and although fewer studies have investigated this behavior in inland salmonids, spawning site fidelity has been documented. For example, genetic analyses on Bull Trout in tributaries of Lake Pend Oreille, Idaho (Spruell et al. 1999), and Arctic char Salvelinus alpinus in the Forth catchment, Scotland (Adams et al. 2006) found that spawning site fidelity maintains genetically distinct populations in watersheds with high connectivity. Individual Mountain Whitefish adults have been observed in the same pool or tributary during the spawning period over consecutive years (Pettit and Wallace 1975; Davies and Thompson 1976; Benjamin et al. 2014), suggesting that homing behavior may occur. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish were associated with slow velocity, silt-laden habitats (e.g., backwaters, eddies, beaver ponds), and these habitats were most common in braided reaches of the Madison River.

Recently hatched (< 4 months posthatch) Mountain Whitefish occupy protected, silt-laden areas in many rivers, likely because these areas provide velocity refugia. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish occupied shallow backwaters in a braided reach of the Sheep River, Alberta (Davies and Thompson 1976), and protected areas including backwaters and pockets behind boulders in the Gallatin and Yellowstone rivers, Montana (Brown 1952),

and Clearwater River, Idaho (Pettit and Wallace 1975). Backwaters are important rearing habitat for many warmwater fish species (Scheidigger and Bain 1995; Nannini et al. 2012) and coldwater cyprinids (Gee and Northcote 1963), but age-0 salmonids are more commonly associated with unembedded rocky substrates (Bjornn and Reiser 1991). Many age-0 salmonids use cover such as interstitial spaces or woody debris as refugia from predators and high velocities, but age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured in open areas with little cover. Silt-laden areas such as backwaters and eddies are selected by Mountain Whitefish; however, the exact reason for the habitat selection is difficult to determine from our study.

We suspect larval drift also influenced age-0 distribution. Larvae of river spawning whitefishes *Coregonus spp*. in Eurasia emerged from the substrate into the water column immediately after hatching (Fabicius and Lindroth 1954; Braum 1964, cited by Naesje et al. 1995), and drift downstream to rearing areas. High discharge during spring floods lead to increased hatching and larval drift distances for whitefishes including Common Whitefish *C. lavaretus*, Broad Whitefish *C. nasus*, and Peled *C. peled* (Naesje et al. 1986; Bogdanov and Bogdanova 2012). Our observations of Mountain Whitefish behavior and distribution suggest similar larval drift occurs. Embryos were collected on egg mats in relatively fast water velocities, thus hatching Mountain Whitefish are likely dispersed by the current. Larval drift is also a logical explanation for two spatial patterns in age-0 *C/f* observed in the Madison River. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish were frequently present in silt-laden backwaters and eddies adjacent to side channels with high flow, but absent in similar silt-laden habitats adjacent to side channels

with lower flow. Additionally, spawning adult locations were associated with age-0 C/f at large scales (25 km) but not at smaller scales (< 15 km). For example, we captured no whitefish when sampling a silt-laden eddy within 10 m of a confirmed spawning site, and recorded our highest C/f in a backwater near Ennis Lake, 9 km downstream of the closest confirmed spawning site. We speculate that many age-0 fish were located in habitats distant from spawning sites in May and June because fish drifted to these areas from upstream spawning sites.

Proximity to age-0 rearing habitat appears to be the best explanation for spawning site locations, because we did not find evidence of adult selection for mesoscale habitat features or any relationship between spawning sites and winter conditions. We did not find evidence that spawning adults selected for depth, substrate type, or water velocity. Mountain Whitefish are broadcast spawners, so it is logical that we failed to detect evidence of mesoscale habitat selection. We are not aware of other studies which statistically tested spawning habitat selection, but observations of Mountain Whitefish spawning in a wide variety of depths, substrates, and velocities (Brown 1952; Stalnaker and Gresswell 1974; Thompson and Davies 1976; Pierce et al. 2012) suggest that spawning Mountain Whitefish do not show strong selection for mesoscale habitat features in other rivers. For example, Mountain Whitefish have been observed spawning in pools and riffles (Stalnaker and Gresswell 1974) at depths from 0.1 m to > 2 m (Brown 1952; Thompson and Davies 1976), in water velocities from slow to fast (Brown 1952; Thompson and Davies 1976; Pierce et al. 2012), and on gravel, cobble, and boulder substrates (Brown 1952; Thompson and Davies 1976; Pierce et al. 2012).

Spawning sites of autumn spawning fish can be associated with stable winter incubation conditions (i.e., stable water temperature, limited ice scour and winter flooding). Winter temperatures and ice formation can affect egg survival (Rajagopal 1979; Baxter and McPhail 1999; Huusko et al. 2007), and changes in water temperatures alter hatching dates and subsequent rearing conditions. Bull Trout and Brook Trout Salvelinus fontinalis redds are sometimes associated with groundwater upwelling, where warm, stable temperatures (relative to surface water temperatures) provide favorable incubation conditions (Curry and Noakes 1995; Baxter and McPhail 1999; Baxter and Hauer 2000). However, Mountain Whitefish spawning sites did not appear to be associated with areas that had stable winter water temperatures in the Madison River. Ice scour is most common in the reach where Mountain Whitefish spawning was concentrated. Winter temperatures at spawning sites and nearby availability sites were cold and variable, suggesting that discharge in spawning areas is dominated by surface water rather than groundwater. Temperatures were warmer and less variable in reaches immediately downstream of Hebgen and Earthquake, similar to groundwater upwelling areas in other rivers (Zimmerman and Finn 2012). Fish tagged between Hebgen and Earthquake lakes remained in this reach during the spawning period, but most fish in the reach downstream of Earthquake Lake moved downstream and away from the lake outlet prior to and during spawning. Redds of Brown Trout, another autumn spawner, are most common in upstream reaches of the study site (Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks, unpublished data), suggesting that suitable winter incubation conditions exist throughout large portions of the Madison River.

After spawning, many Mountain Whitefish entered lakes to overwinter. In 2013, 40% of the fish entered either Ennis or Earthquake lakes from late October through late November. These fish were captured or relocated in the Madison River in May, July, and early autumn, so fish are likely overwintering in the lakes. Fluvial Mountain Whitefish typically overwinter in lotic habitats; for example fish in the Methow and Columbia Rivers, Washington (Benjamin et al. 2014) and Sheep River, Alberta (Davies and Thompson 1976) moved downstream to lotic wintering habitats with deep water. Conversely, in the Madison drainage Mountain Whitefish used both lotic and lentic habitats for overwintering. In coldwater systems, fish typically select overwintering habitat to minimize energy expenditure (i.e., preferred temperatures or low water velocities) or escape adverse environmental conditions including ice blockages, frazil ice, and low dissolved oxygen (Cunjak 1996; Huusko et al. 2007). Lentic habitat can meet both criteria; for example, Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* part in the Stoney River, Newfoundland, entered small lakes during winter to maintain body condition prior to spawning or smolting (Robertson et al. 2004), and Arctic Grayling in the Kuparuk River, Alaska, migrated to a headwaters lake to escape river ice (Buzby and Deegan 2004).

Future Directions

Future investigations into possible limiting factors for Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River should focus on the embryological and juvenile life stages. Mountain Whitefish were highly fecund and matured at young ages, and histological sections showed normal development of ovarian follicles, thus limited egg production is not a plausible limiting factor. Spawning sites were concentrated in the downstream third of

the river, and age-0 Mountain Whitefish were largely restricted to silt-laden habitats within this reach. Thus, if present in incubation or rearing areas, even localized stressors could have population-level influences on recruitment and abundance. Future studies on spatial and temporal overlap between Mountain Whitefish embryos and juveniles and mortality factors could identify limiting factors and guide management.

High water temperatures during spawning may cause embryo mortality, although our temperature loggers deployed in autumn were not placed at spawning sites, and temperatures in spawning areas may have differed from recorded temperatures. Water temperatures throughout most of the winter incubation period were < 6°C, the upper optimum temperature (Rajagopal 1979) for embryo development. However, temperatures > 9°C were recorded during spawning. At temperatures > 9 °C, Mountain Whitefish hatch rates and posthatch survival are reduced, and deformities become more common (Rajagopal 1979; Brinkman et al. 2013). Collecting eggs to investigate embryo mortality and comparing 2012 – 2014 temperatures to historic autumn temperatures could determine if temperature induced embryo mortality is a plausible limiting factor.

Three factors which may influence age-0 growth and survival are whirling disease, drift into lakes, and food availability in rearing habitats. The parasite which causes whirling disease, *M. cerebralis,* is present in the Madison River and has caused Rainbow Trout declines (Vincent 1996; Krueger et al. 2006). Age-0 Mountain Whitefish are susceptible to whirling disease, but mortality rates depend on age at exposure (Schisler 2010), and temporal overlap between vulnerable life stages and peak triactinomyxon (TAM, life stage of *M. Cerebralis* that infects fish) releases typically

exists only in river reaches with warm winter temperatures (Pierce et al. 2012). Our results suggest that Mountain Whitefish drift after hatching and may drift into Ennis and Earthquake lakes. We do not know how many age-0 Mountain Whitefish enter lakes or how rearing in lentic systems influences growth or survival. We also know little about conditions in lotic rearing habitat. We did not capture large numbers of other fish species in areas with age-0 Mountain Whitefish, suggesting that predation and interspecific competition are unlikely to be limiting factors. Thus, we suggest evaluating food availability. Determining whether TAM releases overlap temporally with vulnerable Mountain Whitefish, quantifying drift distances, and evaluating food availability in lotic and lentic habitats are logical next steps for investigating factors that affect survival of juvenile Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River.

Tables

TABLE 2.1. Stages of reproductive development used to assign stages to gonad samples (modified from Blazer 2002, Goetz et al. 2011). Stages marked with * were not observed in fish sampled histologically from the Madison River.

Reproductive stage	Description				
Females					
Previtellogenic	Oocytes in cortical alveolus stage				
Early vitellogenic	Cortical alveoli present and small yolk granules present in periphery				
Mid vitellogenic	Cortical alveoli pushed to edge of oocyte, yolk globules fill center of oocyte, nucleus central				
Late vitellogenic	Yolk globules and lipid droplets coalescing to nearly fully fused, nucleus off center				
Post vitellogenic*	Yolk globules and lipid droplets fused, nucleus has migrated to animal pole but remains intact				
Spawning	Entirely fused yolk, oocyte ovulated from follicular layers				
Spent	Post-ovulatory follicles and previtellogenic oocytes present				
Males					
Pre-spermatogenic*	only spermatogonia present				
Early spermatogenic	spermatogonia, spermatocytes, and spermatids may be present				
Mid spermatogenic*	spermatocytes, spermatids, and spermatozoa present in approximately equal proportions				
Ripe	greater than 50% spermatozoa				
Spawning	primarily spermatozoa, cysts beginning to empty, actively spermiating				
Spent	Cysts mostly empty, although residual spermatozoa may be present				

		Start	Gradient	Sinuosity	Braiding	Mean channel width	Mean bench width	Percent of fish in reach during	
Reach	Start point	rkm	(m/km)	Index	index	(m)	(m)	Prespawning	Spawning
1	Hebgen Dam	0.0	7.7	1.9	1.9	50	114	2.5	2.8
2	Earthquake Inlet	3.5	Earthquake Lake					0.0	0.0
3	Earthquake Outlet	10.4	10.5	1.3	1.5	42	369	14.9	7.8
4	Gradient Change	22.5	4.6	1.2	1.4	59	358	23.1	9.6
5	Wolf Creek	42.3	4.6	1.2	1.1	66	675	29.9	14.6
6	Story Ditch	61.6	4.9	1.1	1.1	70	1888	4.6	23.0
7	Wigwam Creek	74.3	4.3	1.1	3.6	58	2601	24.9	36.3
8	Ennis Inlet	100.1	Ennis Lake				0.0	5.9	

TABLE 2.2. Macroscale habitat measurements and fish locations by period for reaches in the Madison River. Reaches 2 and 8 are lakes.

TABLE 2.3. Habitat variables measured at seining sampling sites in the Madison River in May and June 2014. All variables were compared graphically to age-0 catch-per-unit effort (C/f) data, but only variables marked with * were included in rich zero-inflated-negative-binomial models fit to age-0 C/f data.

Variable	Explanation				
Habitat type*	Backwater, channel, or tributary				
Dominant substrate*	Visual estimate of dominant substrate in sampled area				
Secondary substrate	Visual estimate of second most common substrate in sampled area				
Width*	Channel width ± 0.5 m				
Velocity*	Visual estimate: fast (> 1.0 m/s), moderate (0.6 to 1.0 m/s), slow (< 0.6 m/s)				
Temperature	Water temperature (± 0.1°C) at sampled site				
Maximum depth	Maximum depth (± 0.1 m) sampled				
Discharge	m ³ /s (daily mean for day of sampling), obtained from nearest USGS gauge				
Spawners within 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, or 25* km upstream	Percent of tagged adult relocations during the 2013 spawning window (19 Oct to 10 Nov 2013, standardized to 1 location per fish per week) within 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, or 25 km upstream of the sampling unit, respectively,				

TABLE 2.4. Coefficient estimates and measures of variation for explanatory variables from zero-altered negative binomial model of age-0 Mountain Whitefish presence and C/f (i.e., only locations where one or more age-0 Mountain Whitefish were sampled) in the Madison River, Montana, from May – June 2013.

	Coefficient estimate	SE	95% CI for coefficient estimate	Z value	<i>P</i> -value	Odds ratio estimate	95% CI for odds ratio estimate		
Presence model (binomial)									
Intercept	-3.90	0.61	(-5.09, -2.7)	-6.388	< 0.0001				
Spawners25	0.09	0.01	(0.06, 0.12)	5.773	< 0.0001	1.090	(1.06, 1.12)		
Habitat type (reference = channel)									
Backwater	-0.11	0.53	(-1.14, 0.92)	-0.206	0.837	0.900	(0.32, 2.51)		
Tributary	-2.34	1.17	(-4.64, -0.05)	-2.003	0.045	0.100	(0.01, 0.95)		
Primary substrate (reference = boulder)									
Cobble	-0.40	1.03	(-2.43, 1.62)	-0.391	0.696	0.670	(0.09, 5.06)		
Gravel	1.07	0.67	(-0.25, 2.39)	1.584	0.113	2.910	(0.78, 10.93)		
Sand	0.55	0.97	(-1.35, 2.44)	0.567	0.571	1.730	(0.26, 11.5)		
Silt	2.19	0.71	(0.79, 3.59)	3.075	0.002	8.940	(2.21, 36.09)		
<i>C/f</i> model (negative binomial)									
Intercept	-5.03	1.43	(-7.83, -2.23)	-3.526	< 0.001				
Spawners25	0.06	0.02	(0.02, 0.11)	2.907	0.004				
Primary substrate (reference = boulder)									
Cobble	3.98	1.69	(0.66, 7.3)	2.353	0.019				
Gravel	2.98	1.34	(0.35, 5.6)	2.222	0.026				
Sand	2.79	1.48	(-0.12, 5.7)	1.88	0.060				
Silt	3.61	1.28	(1.09, 6.12)	2.811	0.005				





FIGURE 2.1. Map of study site on the Madison River, Montana. Solid circles labeled with river kilometer (Hebgen Dam = 0.0) show boundaries of river reaches used for sampling stratification and macroscale habitat descriptions. Only tributaries sampled for age-0 Mountain Whitefish in spring 2014 are shown.



FIGURE 2.2. Weight-fecundity relationship for Mountain Whitefish captured with boat electrofishing in the Madison River, Montana from 10 to 12 October 2012, and in other watersheds (Sigler 1951; Brown 1952; Northcote and Ennis 1994; Wydoski 2001). The regression line includes only Mountain Whitefish from the Madison River.



FIGURE 2.3. Ovarian development of Mountain Whitefish, periodic acid schiff stain, bar equals 100 µm. Stages shown are: (A) previtellogenic, with cortical alveoli present; (B) early vitellogenic, with cortical alveoli and small yolk droplets present; (C) mid vitellogenic, ovarian follicles with coalescing yolk globules and lipid droplets, and nucleus centered; (D) late vitellogenic, yolk globules and lipid droplets coalescing to nearly fused, and nucleus off center; (E) spawning, with ovulated ova showing fully fused yolk, and nearby post ovulatory follicles; and (F) spent, with post ovulatory follicles, one atretic ovarian follicle, and previtellogenic oocytes. Abbreviations are as follows: (AF) atretic follicle, (CA) cortical alveoli, (LD), lipid droplet, (N) nucleus, (PF) postovulatory follicle, (PV) previtellogenic oocyte, and (Y) yolk.



FIGURE 2.4. Testicular development of Mountain Whitefish, periodic acid schiff stain, bar equals 100 μ m. Stages shown are: (A) early spermatogenic, containing only spermatogonia, spermatocytes, and spermatids; (B) ripe, primarily spermatozoa with small numbers of spermatids (C) spawning or spermiating, only spermatozoa present and cysts beginning to empty, and (D) spent, as seen by residual spermatozoa present but mostly empty cysts. Abbreviations are as follows: (EC) empty cyst, (SC) spermatocytes, (SG) spermatogonia, (ST) spermatids, and (SZ) spermatozoa.



FIGURE 2.5. Logistic-regression models used to predict age and length at 50% and 90% maturity for Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, Montana. Parameter estimates are shown with SE in parentheses.



FIGURE 2.6. Status of captured female Mountain Whitefish (grouped by week) and daily densities of Mountain Whitefish embryos collected on egg mats in the Madison River, Montana during autumn (A) 2013 and (B) 2014. Egg mats that did not collect any embryos were excluded from density calculations.



FIGURE 2.7. Mean total and net weekly movement rates (mean \pm 95% CI) of radio-tagged Mountain Whitefish and daily mean, maximum, and minimum water temperatures in the Madison River, Montana during autumn 2012, 2013, and 2014. Vertical lines indicate the spawning period (solid = determined from embryo collection and female spawning status, dashed = estimated from other years). On temperature plots, horizontal lines indicate thermal thresholds for successful embryo development (solid = maximum, dashed = upper optimal; Rajagopal 1979; Brinkman et al. 2013). Weekly movement rates for females and males are offset and are for the week starting with the date labelled on the axis.



FIGURE 2.8. Maps illustrating locations of radio-tagged mature Mountain Whitefish during the (A) prespawning, (B) spawning, and (C) postspawning periods in 2012 - 2014 (all years pooled); and (D) presence and (E) *C/f* of age-0 Mountain Whitefish sampled with seining in May and June 2014 from the Madison River, Montana.



FIGURE 2.9. Depth, water velocity, and substrate type (mean $\pm 95\%$ CI) in the Madison River, Montana in autumn 2013 and 2014 at randomly selected availability sites (n = 30) and Mountain Whitefish spawning sites (2013: n = 4, 2014: n = 8). Abbreviations are defined as: (A) available, (S) spawning, (B) boulder, (C) cobble, (G) gravel, (Sa) sand, and (Si) silt.



FIGURE 2.10. Winter water temperatures in the Madison River, Montana 2014-2015. Availability sites (n = 18) were randomly selected and stratified by reach. Spawning sites (n = 8) were locations where embryos were collected on egg mats in Autumn 2014. Mean water temperature (top value) and mean daily water temperature range (bottom value) are shown with SD in parentheses.



FIGURE 2.11. Daily (A) mean water temperatures and (B) mean daily water temperature change at spawning sites and availability sites in the same river reach in the Madison River, Montana from 3 December 2014 to 7 March 2015.



FIGURE 2.12. Habitat variables associated with probability of detecting age-0 Mountain Whitefish using seines in the Madison River, Montana in May – June 2014.

References

- Adams, C. E., D. J. Hamilton, I. McCarthy, A. J. Wilson, A. Grant, G. Alexander, S. Waldron, S. S. Snorrason, M. M. Ferguson and S. Skúlason. 2006. Does breeding site fidelity drive phenotypic and genetic sub-structuring of a population of Arctic charr? Evolutionary Ecology 20:11–26.
- Allen, M. S., and W. E. Pine III. 2000. Detecting fish population responses to a minimum length limit: effects of variable recruitment and duration of evaluation. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20:672–682.
- Baldwin, T. J., J. E. Peterson, G. C. McGhee, K. D. Staigmiller, E. S. Motteram, C. C. Downs, and D. R. Stanek. 1998. Distribution of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in salmonid fishes in Montana. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 10:361–371.
- Baxter, C. V., and F. R. Hauer. 2000. Geomorphology, hyporheic exchange, and selection of spawning habitat by bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 1470-1481.
- Baxter, J. S., and J. D. McPhail. 1999. The influence of redd site selection, groundwater upwelling, and over-winter incubation temperature on survival of bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) from egg to alevin. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77:1233– 1239.
- Bellmore, J. R., C.V. Baxter, K. Martens, and P. J. Connelly. 2013. The floodplain food webmosaic: a study of its importance to production of salmon and steelhead with implications for their recovery. Ecological Applications 23:189–207.
- Benjamin, J. R., L. A. Wetzel, K. D. Martens, K. Larsen, and P. J. Connolly. 2014. Spatio-temporal variability in movement, age, and growth of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a river network based upon PIT tagging and otolith chemistry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 71:131–140.
- Bjornn, T. C., and D. W. Reiser. 1991. Habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. Pages 83–138 in W. R. Meehan, editor. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society, Special Publication 19, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Blazer, V. S. 2002. Histopathological assessment of gonadal tissue in wild fishes. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 26:85–101.
- Bogdanov, V. D., and E. N. Bogdanova. 2012. Ecological aspects of larval drift in coregonids with long migration routes. Russian Journal of Ecology 43:315–322.
- Boyd, J. W. 2008. Effects of water temperature and angling on mortality of salmonids in Montana streams. Master's thesis. Montana State University, Bozeman.
- Bradford, M. J., and G. Cabana. 1997. Interannual variability in survival rates and the causes of recruitment variability. Pages 469-494 *in* R. C. Chambers and E. A. Trippel, editors. Early Life History and Recruitment in Fish Populations. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Brenkman, S. J., G. L. Larson, and R. E. Gresswell. 2001. Spawning migration of lacustrine-adfluvial bull trout in a natural area. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 130:981–987.
- Brinkman, S. F., H. J. Crockett, and K. B. Rogers. 2013. Upper thermal tolerance of mountain whitefish eggs and fry. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:824–831.
- Brinkman, S., T. E. Remington, J. A. Crawford, and R. Mcanally. 2008. Water pollution studies. Federal Aid Project F-243-R15.
- Bromage, N. R., M. J. R. Porter, C. F. Randall. 2001. The environmental regulation of maturation in farmed finfish with special reference to the role of photoperiod and melatonin. Aquaculture; 197:63–98.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1952. Spawning habits and early development of the mountain whitefish, Prosopium williamsoni, in Montana. Copeia 1952(2):109–113.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1971. Fishes of Montana. Big Sky Books, Bozeman, Montana.
- Buzby, K.M., and L. A. Deegan. Long-term survival of adult Arctic grayling (*Thymallus arcticus*) in the Kuparuk River, Alaska. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:1954–1964.
- Clancey, P., and T. Lohrenz. 2013. Madison River drainage fisheries and Madison River westslope cutthroat trout conservation and restoration program. 2012 Annual Report to PPL Montana. Available http://fwp.mt.gov/fishAndWildlife/fishAndWildlifeLibrarySearch.html (August 2015)
- Cooke, S. J., and C. M. Bunt. 2001. Assessment of internal and external antenna configurations of radio transmitters implanted in smallmouth bass. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21:236–241.
- Cooke, S. J., G. Hinch, Scott, M. C. Lucas, and M. Lutcavage. 2012. Biotelemetry and biologging. Pages 819–881 in A. V. Zale, D. L. Parrish, and T. M. Sutton, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 3rd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.

- Curry, R. A., and D. L. G. Noakes. 1995. Groundwater and the selection of spawning sites by brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 52:1733–1740.
- Cunjak, R.A. 1996. Winter habitat of selected stream fishes and potential impacts from land-use activity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53:149-160.
- Davies, R.W., and Thompson, G.W. 1976. Movements of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River watershed, Alberta. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33:2395–2401.
- Deters, K. A., R. S. Brown, K. M. Carter, J. W. Boyd, M. B. Eppard, and A. G. Seaburg. 2010. Performance assessment of suture type, water temperature, and surgeon skill in juvenile chinook salmon surgically implanted with acoustic transmitters. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 139:888–899.
- Eaton, J. G., and R. M. Scheller. 1996. Effects of climate warming on fish thermal habitat in streams of the United States. Limnology and Oceanography 41:1109–1115.
- Forsythe, P. S., K. T. Scribner, J. A. Crossman, A. Ragavendran, E. A. Baker, C. Davis, and K. K. Smith. 2012. Environmental and lunar cues are predictive of the timing of river entry and spawning-site arrival in lake sturgeon *Acipenser fulvescens*. Journal of Fish Biology 81:35-53.
- Friend, P. F., and R. Sinha. 1993. Braiding and meandering parameters. Pages 105–111 in J. L. Best and C. S. Bristow, editors. Braided rivers. Geological Society, Special Publication 75, London.
- Frissell, C. A., W. J. Liss, C. E. Warren, and M. D. Hurley. 1986. A hierarchical framework for stream habitat classification: viewing streams in a watershed context. Environmental Management 10:199–214.
- Gates, K. K., C. S. Guy, A. V. Zale, and T. B. Horton. 2009. Angler awareness of aquatic nuisance species and potential transport mechanisms. Fisheries Management and Ecology 16:448–456.
- Gee J. H., and T. G. Northcote. 1963. Comparative ecology of two sympatric species of dace (*Rhinichthys*) in the Fraser River system, British Columbia. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 20:105-118.
- Goetz, F., S. Sitar, D. Rosauer, P. Swanson, C. R. Bronte, J. Dickey, and C. Simchick. 2011. The reproductive biology of siscowet and lean lake trout in southern Lake Superior. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 140:1472–1491.

- Goodnight, W. H., and T. C. Bjornn. 1971. Fish production in two Idaho streams. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 100:769:780.
- Gordon, N. D., T. A. McMahon, and B. L. Finlayson. 1997. Stream hydrology, 1st edition. Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England.
- Grau, K., J. Jorgenson, and N. P. Nickerson. 2014. The economic review of the travel industry in Montana: 2014 biennial edition. Institute for Tourism and Recreation Research Publications. paper 312. Missoula, MT.
- Hagen, H. K. 1970. Age, growth, and reproduction of the mountain whitefish in Phelps Lake, Wyoming. Pages 399-415 in C. C. Lindsay, editor. Biology of Coregonid fishes. University of Manitoba Press, Winnipeg.
- Huusko, A., L. Greenberg, M. Stickler, T. Linnansaari, M. Nykanen, T. Vehanen, S. Koljonen, P. Louhi, and K. Alfredson. 2007. Life in the ice lane: the winter ecology of stream salmonids. River Research and Applications 23:469–491.
- IDFG (Idaho Department of Fish and Game). 2007. Mountain whitefish conservation and management plan for the Big Lost River Drainage, Idaho. Management Report. Volume 165-04. IDFG, Boise, Idaho.
- Kennedy, P. A. 2009. The effect of irrigation diversions on the Mountain Whitefish population (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Big Lost River. Master's Thesis. Utah State University, Logan.
- Krueger, R. C., B. L. Kerans, E. R. Vincent, and C. Rasmussen. 2006. Risk of *Myxobolus cerebralis* infection to rainbow trout in the Madison River, Montana, USA. Ecological Applications 16:770–783.
- Lance, M. J., and C. V. Baxter. 2011. Abundance, production, and tissue composition of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a Central Idaho wilderness stream. Northwest Science 85:445–454.
- Lewis, M. S., and Z. King. 2014. Statewide estimates of resident and nonresident hunter & angler expenditures in Montana. Helena, MT.
- Liebelt, J. E. 1970. Studies on the behavior and life history of the mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni* Girard). Master's Thesis. Montana State University, Bozeman.
- Lischka, S. A., and J. J. Magnuson. 2006. Timing and site selection of spawning in a landlocked population of rainbow smelt in Wisconsin. Environmental Biology of Fishes 76:413-418.

- Luna, L. G. 1968. Manual of histologic staining methods of the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology. McGraw Hill Publishers, New York, 3rd edition. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- McMahon, T. E., A. V. Zale, and D. J. Orth. 1996. Aquatic habitat measurements. Pages 83–120 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Meyer, K. A., F. S. Elle, and J. A. Lamansky. 2009. Environmental factors related to the distribution, abundance, and life history characteristics of mountain whitefish in Idaho. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:753–767.
- MFWP (Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks). 2006 2012. Montana statewide angling pressure. Available: http://fwp.mt.gov/fishing/anglingPressureSurveys/. (July 2015).
- Montana State Library. 2015. Montana geographic information clearinghouse. Available: http://geoinfo.msl.mt.gov/. (August 2015)
- Morbey Y. 2000. Protandry in Pacific salmon. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57:1252–1257.
- Morbey, Y.E., and R.C. Ydenberg. 2001. Protandrous arrival timing to breeding areas: a review. Ecology Letters 4:663-673.
- Mullahy, J. 1986. Specification and testing of some modified count data models. Journal of Econometrics 33:341-365.
- Myers R. A. 2002. Recruitment: understanding density-dependence. Pages 123-48*in* P. Hart and J. Reynold, editors, Handbook of Fish Biology and Fisheries Vol 1: Fish Biology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Nannini, M. A., J. Goodrich, J. M. Dettmers, D. A. Soluk, and D. H. Wahl. 2012. Larval and early juvenile fish dynamics in main channel and backwater lake habitats of the Illinois River ecosystem. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 21:499-509.
- Næsje, T. F., B. Jonssons, and O. T. Sandlund. 1986. Drift of cisco and whitefish larvae in a Norwegian river. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 115:89–93.
- Næsje, T., B. Jonssons, and J. Skurdal. 1995. Spring flood: a primary cue for hatching of river spawning Coregoninae. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 52:2190–2196.

- Northcote, T. G., and G. L. Ennis. 1994. Mountain whitefish biology and habitat use in relation to compensation and improvement possibilities. Reviews in Fisheries Science 2:347–371.
- Paragamian, V. L. 2002. Changes in the species composition of the fish community in a reach of the Kootenai River, Idaho, after construction of Libby Dam. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 17:375–383.
- PBS&J. 2011. Water quality and biological monitoring trend analysis, Missouri-Madison Water Monitoring Program. 2011 Report to PPL Montana, project number 100011042, Billings, MT.
- Pettit, S. W., and R. L. Wallace. 1975. Age, growth, and movement of mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard), in the North Fork Clearwater River, Idaho. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 104:68–76.
- Pierce, R., M. Davidson, and C. Podner. 2012. Spawning behavior of mountain whitefish and co-occurrence of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in the Blackfoot River Basin, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141:720–730.
- Pinheiro, J. C., and D. M. Bates. 2000. Mixed effects models in S and S-Plus. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Pinheiro J. C., D. M. Bates, S. DebRoy, D. Sarkar. 2015. nlme: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1-122, available: http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=nlme.
- Platts, W. S., W. F. Megahan, and G. W. Minshall. 1983. Methods for evaluating stream, riparian, and biotic conditions. U. S. Forest Service, General Technical Report INT-138.
- Quinn, T. P., M. J. Unwin, and M. T. Kinnison. 2000. Evolution of temporal isolation in the wild: genetic divergence in timing of migration and breeding by introduced Chinook salmon populations. Evolution 54:1372-1385.
- Quinn, T. P. 2005. The behavior and ecology of Pacific salmon and trout. University of Washington Press, Seattle.
- Quinn, A. L., J. B. Rasmussen, and A. Hontela. 2010. Physiological stress response of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) and white sucker (*Catostomus commersoni*) sampled along a gradient of temperature and agrichemicals in the Oldman River, Alberta. Environmental Biology of Fishes 88:119–131.

- Rajagopal, P. K. 1979. The embryonic development and the thermal effects on the development of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard). Journal of Fish Biology 15:153–158.
- Reid, S. M. 2006. Timing and demographic characteristics of redhorse spawning runs in three Great Lakes basin rivers. Journal of Freshwater Ecology, 21:249-258.
- Riedel, C., and A. Peter. 2013. Timing of brown trout spawning in Alpine rivers with special consideration of egg burial depth. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22:384-397.
- Rogers, K. B., and G. C. White. 2007. Analysis of movement and habitat use from telemetry data. Pages 625–676 in C. S. Guy and M. L. Brown, editors. Analysis and interpretation of freshwater fisheries data. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Robertson, M. J., K. D. Clarke, D. A. Scruton, and J. A. Brown. 2003. Interhabitat and instream movements of large Atlantic salmon parr in a Newfoundland watershed in winter. Journal of Fish Biology 63:1208–1218.
- Scheidegger, K. J., and M. B. Bain. 1995. Larval fish distribution and microhabitat use in free-flowing and regulated rivers. Copeia 1995(1):125-135.
- Schisler, G. J. 2010. Effects of whirling disease (*Myxobolus cerebralis*) exposure on juvenile Mountain Whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*). Report to Colorado Division of Wildlife, Aquatic Research Section, Fort Collins. Available: www.wildlife.state.co.us/Research/Aquatic/MountainWhitefish. (July 2015).
- Sigler, W. F. 1951. The life history and management of *Prosopium williamsoni* in the Logan River, Utah. Utah State Agricultural College, Bulletin 347, Logan.
- Spruell, P., B. E. Rieman, K. L. Knudsen, F. M. Utter, and F. W. Allendorf. 1999. Genetic population structure within streams: microsatellite analysis of bull trout populations. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 8:114–121.
- Stalnaker, C. B., and R. E. Gresswell. 1974. Early life history and feeding of young mountain whitefish. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ecological Research Series Report EPA-660/3-73-019.
- Strange, R. J. 1996. Field examination of fishes. Pages 433–446 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Swanberg, T. R. 1997. Movements of and habitat use by fluvial bull trout in the Blackfoot River, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 126:735– 746.

- Thompson, G. E., and R. W. Davies. 1976. Observations on the Age, growth, reproduction, and feeding of mountain whitefish (*Prosopoium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River, Alberta. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 105:208–219.
- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015a. Real-time data for Montana. Available: http://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/mt/nwis/rt. (July 2015)
- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015b. The National Map. Available: http://nationalmap.gov/small_scale/ (July 2015)
- Vincent, E. R. 1987. Effects of stocking catchable-size hatchery rainbow trout on two wild trout species in the Madison River and O'Dell Creek, Montana. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 7:91–105.
- Vincent, E. R. 1996. Whirling disease and wild trout: the Montana experience. Fisheries 21(6):32–33.
- Vlaming, V. L. 1972. Environmental control of teleost reproductive cycles: a brief review. Journal of Fish Biology 4:131-140.
- Wagner, G. N., S. J. Cooke, R. S. Brown, and K. A. Deters. 2011. Surgical implantation techniques for electronic tags in fish. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 21:71– 81.
- Warren D.R., J. M. Robinson, D. C. Josephson, D. R. Sheldon, and C. E. Kraft. 2012. Elevated summer temperatures delay spawning and reduce redd construction for resident brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Global Change Biology 18:1804–1811.
- Wydoski, R. S. 2001. Life history and fecundity of mountain whitefish from Utah streams. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 130:692–698.
- Zeileis, A., C. Kleiber, and S. Jackman. 2008. Regression models for count data in R. Journal of Statistical Software 27(8):1–25.
- Zimmerman, C. E., and J. E. Finn. 2012. A simple method for in situ monitoring of water temperature in substrates used by spawning salmonids. Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management 3:288–295.
- Zuur, A., E. N. Ieno, N. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith. 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer, New York.

CHAPTER THREE

GEAR COMPARISON FOR SAMPLING AGE-0 MOUNTAIN WHITEFISH

Contributions of Authors and Co-Authors

Manuscript in Chapter 3

Author: Jan Boyer

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, implemented study, collected and analyzed data, and authored manuscript.

Co-Author: Christopher Guy

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, provided guidance on data analysis, and edited manuscript.

Co-Author: Molly Webb

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, provided guidance on data analysis, and edited manuscript.

Co-Author: Travis Horton

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, coordinated funding and logistics to support data collection.

Co-Author: Thomas McMahon

Contributions: Helped conceive study design, provided technical insights, and reviewed manuscript.

Manuscript Information Page

Jan Boyer, Christopher Guy, Molly Webb, Travis Horton, and Thomas McMahon

North American Journal of Fisheries Management Status of Manuscript:

X_ Prepared for submission to a peer-reviewed journal

_____Officially submitted to a peer-review journal

_____ Accepted by a peer-reviewed journal

_____ Published in a peer-reviewed journal

Published by The American Fisheries Society

Abstract

Sampling gears have not been compared for age-0 Mountain Whitefish *Prosopium williamsoni*, which makes it difficult to investigate recruitment and early life history dynamics for this species. We compared four gears: a seine, a backpack electrofisher, minnow traps, and lighted minnow traps. Gears were tested in backwaters, large channels, and small channels in the Madison River, Montana. No age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured in minnow traps or lighted minnow traps. Seining had higher age-0 Mountain Whitefish *C/f* (mean, 0.82; SD, 2.19) than electrofishing (mean, 0.04; SD, 0.13), and the coefficient of variation was lower for seining (267) than electrofishing (325). Fish with a greater range of lengths were collected from seining (17 - 41 mm) compared to electrofishing (21 - 36 mm). Age-0 Mountain Whitefish seine catch was highest in backwaters. In channel sites Mountain Whitefish presence was associated with areas of still or slow water $\ge 2 \text{ m}^2$. We recommend seining be used for future sampling of age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Additionally, because Mountain Whitefish *C/f* was higher in slow velocity areas, habitat must be considered when designing sampling protocols.

Introduction

Standardized sampling facilitates comparisons in population metrics across time and space, allowing researchers to investigate trends and compare data to other populations (Bonar and Hubert 2002). Given the importance of standardized sampling, the American Fisheries Society recently published a book that establishes standardized sampling methods throughout North America (Bonar et al. 2009). The sampling

recommendations in Bonar et al. (2009) are organized by waterbody type (e.g., wadeable streams, large rivers, ponds, or lakes) and fish assemblage type (e.g., coldwater or warmwater). However, the efficiency of a sampling technique also depends on factors including fish size, behavior, habitat use, and swimming ability, which can vary among species and life stages. Gear comparison studies provide information on efficiency, size selectivity, and ease of deployment of various gears, and assist biologists in selecting appropriate gears for sampling a target species. Gear comparison studies have compared sampling methods for many species, particularly popular sport fish, invasive species, and threatened and endangered species (e.g., Mangan et al. 2005; Phelps et al. 2009; Nett et al. 2012). However, gear comparison studies are nonexistent for many species and life stages.

Sampling gears have not been compared for age-0 Mountain Whitefish *Prosopium williamsoni*, which makes it difficult to investigate recruitment and early life history dynamics for this species. Mountain Whitefish are a salmonid native to coldwater lakes and 4th to 7th order streams throughout large portions of the Western United States and Canada (Brown 1971; Scott and Crossman 1973; Meyer et al. 2009). In the last decade, declines in Mountain Whitefish abundance have been reported in the Madison River, Montana, and in other rivers throughout the Southern portion of their range (IDFG 2007, P. Clancey, Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks; G. Edwards, Wyoming Fish and Game; K. Rogers, Colorado Wildlife and Parks, personal communications). Studies on Mountain Whitefish ecology are needed to investigate these declines and identify possible limiting factors. Investigating the ecology of juvenile fish is an important

component, as fish populations are often limited by bottlenecks occurring early in life (Bradford and Cabana 1997; Myers 2002). Understanding which gear or gears are most efficient (i.e., highest *C/f* and lowest variability in *C/f*) at sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish is necessary to design cost effective and informative studies. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish have been sampled using seines (Brown 1952), backpack electrofishing (Stalnaker and Gresswell 1974), and dip nets (Pettit and Wallace 1975; Pierce et al. 2012). These methods successfully collected fish for growth, diet, and disease studies, but the relative efficiency of these gears has not been compared.

We compared four gears: a seine, a backpack electrofisher, minnow traps, and lighted minnow traps. These gears were selected based on a literature review of juvenile fish sampling gears, and with the intent of testing a variety of gears with different strengths and limitations. Seines are quick to deploy, thus, using seines would allow for a large number of sites to be sampled. However, seines are less effective in structurally complex habitats and areas with high velocity. Backpack electrofishing is a widely used and effective method for sampling salmonids in wadeable streams (Dunham et al. 2009). However, electrofishing is less efficient at sampling smaller fish, expensive, and timeconsuming relative to the other methods. Two passive gears, minnow traps and lighted minnow traps, were also tested. Minnow traps are relatively simple to deploy and can effectively sample small fish; however, efficiency of minnow traps and other passive gears is dependent on activity levels and movement patterns of fish (Kelso and Rutherford 1996). Age-0 Mountain Whitefish are positively phototactic (Liebelt 1970;

Stalnaker and Gresswell 1974; Rajagopal 1979), so lighted minnow traps may attract Mountain Whitefish and increase *C/f*.

Understanding which habitat types are associated with age-0 Mountain Whitefish is also necessary to design cost effective and informative studies. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish have typically been sampled in protected habitats including backwaters and pockets behind boulders (Brown 1952; Davies and Thompson 1976; Pettit and Wallace 1975). However, past age-0 sampling efforts have not randomly selected sampling sites or compared *C/f* among habitat types. We tested gears at randomly selected sites in three habitat strata (backwaters, channels ≥ 18 m wide, and channels ≤ 6 m wide) and recorded habitat measurements (i.e., substrate, water velocity, turbidity) at all sampled sites. This allowed us to compare *C/f* among habitat types and determine which habitat types and characteristics were associated with age-0 Mountain Whitefish.

Our objectives were to determine which gear had the highest C/f of age-0 Mountain Whitefish, assess variation in C/f among gears, and describe habitat characteristics associated with age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f. We predicted that backpack electrofishing would have higher C/f and lower variance for sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish as compared to seining, minnow traps, or lighted minnow traps. All of the selected gears can effectively sample age-0 fish (Kelso and Rutherford 1996), but electrofishing typically has high salmonid C/f in streams with coarse substrate. Finally, we predicted that C/f would be higher in small side channels and backwaters with lower water velocity than in main channels because age-0 Mountain Whitefish were found in

protected habitats in other river systems (Brown 1952; Pettit and Wallace 1975; Davies and Thompson 1976).

Methods

Study Area

The Madison River is formed at the confluence of the Firehole and Gibbon rivers in Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming, and flows north 195 km to Three Forks, Montana, where its confluence with the Gallatin and Jefferson rivers forms the Missouri River. The study area was between Varney Bridge and Ennis Lake, a distance of 23.5 km (Figure 3.1). This reach was selected because a movement study between Hebgen Dam and Madison Dam, a distance of 101 km, showed that during autumn spawning the highest densities of adult Mountain Whitefish were found near Varney Bridge (see Chapter 2), and thus the reach downstream of Varney Bridge likely held the highest densities of age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Within the study site, the river is braided, with numerous side channels, backwaters, and pools. Hebgen Dam, which was constructed in 1914, regulates discharge in this section and functions primarily to store and release water for downstream hydropower plants on the Madison and Missouri rivers. Mean daily discharge is 24 - 39 m^3 /s during base flow and peaks between 60 - 175 m^3 /s during spring runoff (2011-2014; USGS 2015). Water quality has been stable within the last 10 years, with no pollutants exceeding recommended Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) levels, and cadmium, zinc, and copper are below levels toxic to juvenile Mountain Whitefish (PBS&J 2011; Brinkman et al. 2013).

The fish assemblage is composed of the native species Mountain Whitefish, Mountain Sucker *Catostomus platyrhynchus*, Longnose Sucker *Catostomus catostomus*, White Sucker *Catostomus commersoni*, Longnose Dace *Rhinichthys cataractae*, and Mottled Sculpin *Cottus bairdi*. Arctic Grayling *Thymallus arcticus* are present at extremely low abundance near Ennis Lake. Non-native species present are Rainbow Trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Brown Trout *Salmo trutta*, and Utah Chub *Gila atraria* (Brown 1971; Vincent 1987). The parasite *Myxobolus cerebralis*, the causative agent of whirling disease, was first detected in the Madison in 1994, and was responsible for declines in Rainbow Trout (Vincent 1996; Baldwin et al. 1998), although since 2000 population estimates have rebounded to approximately 85% of pre-whirling disease (1951–1990) estimates (Clancey and Lohrenz 2013).

The majority of land in the Madison watershed is federally owned; the headwaters are within Yellowstone National Park and most land in the mountains surrounding the Madison Valley is owned by the U.S. Forest Service. Lower elevation land adjacent to the study site is primarily privately owned, with small parcels of state land. Public lands are managed for recreation, wilderness, timber, and grazing. The primary land use in the valley is grazing, with irrigated agriculture near Ennis, Montana.

Gear Comparison

Seining, backpack electrofishing, minnow traps, and lighted minnow traps were tested in wadeable habitat in the Madison River between Varney Bridge and Ennis Lake (Figure 3.1). Prior to field sampling, aerial maps were used to identify three habitat types: backwaters, large channels (≥ 18 m wide), and small channels (≤ 6 m wide)

(Figure 3.2). Channels which were 6 - 18 m wide were excluded from sampling to ensure a clear difference between large and small channel habitat types. Sampling blocks were delineated within each habitat type. Four adjacent backwaters were considered one block because not all sampling gears could be evaluated in a single backwater given the small size of most backwaters (see Figure 3.2 panel A and B). Large channel and small channel blocks were a continuous reach such that large channels were 200 m and small channels were 250 m (Figure 3.2 panel A). Random sampling, stratified by habitat type, was used to select blocks (n = 23) for gear evaluation. We attempted to sample 8 blocks in each habitat strata, but time constraints limited small channel sampling to 7 blocks.

Four sampling sites were delineated in each selected block (Figure 3.2 panel B). As stated above, each backwater site had only one gear used because of the size limitation—in backwaters ≤ 50 m in length the entire backwater was sampled, and in backwaters > 50 m in length the 50 m closest to the channel was sampled. Large channel sites were 50 m in length and were located in wadeable habitat adjacent to one bank. Small channel sites were 50 m in length and included the entire channel width. All adjacent sites where a different gear was used were separated by a buffer ≥ 10 m. Within each block, each of the four gears was randomly assigned to one of the four sites (Figure 3.2 panel B).

All sampling was conducted by the same two-person crew to control for variable sampling efficiency among crews. Seined sites were sampled using a 3-m x 1.5-m beach seine with 1.6-mm bar mesh (Leslie et al. 1983; Rabeni et al. 2009). The seine was used to sample all area in the site that could be effectively seined. The number of seine hauls

per site varied depending on area of wadeable habitat in a site and presence of obstructions (e.g., submerged logs, boulders), but there were a minimum of three seine hauls per site. Electrofished sites were sampled using a backpack electrofisher (Halltech HT-2000), and fish were captured in a single pass using dip nets with 1.6-mm bar mesh (Dunham et al. 2009). Voltage and frequency were adjusted based on water conductivity and temperature to standardize power at 300 - 450 W (Burkhardt and Gutreuter 1995; Dunham et al. 2009). We electrofished within 3 m of shore, similar to the area sampled by the seine. Minnow traps and lighted minnow traps were 46 cm x 25 cm x 25 cm (2-mm bar mesh) with two 40-mm entrances. Lighted minnow traps had a 24 h 10-cm x 1-cm chemical glow stick placed inside the trap. Three traps per sampling site were set and removed the following day. All fish captured were identified to species. All Mountain Whitefish were measured to the nearest millimeter total length (TL). For other species, subsamples of 50 fish per site were measured to the nearest millimeter TL. Start and end times of sampling (excluding fish processing) were recorded.

At each site, water temperature (\pm 0.1 °C), maximum depth (\pm 0.1 m), backwater or channel width (\pm 0.5 m), and site length (\pm 0.5 m) were measured. Primary and secondary substrate (i.e., bedrock, boulder > 256 mm, cobble 64 - 256 mm, gravel 2 - 63 mm, sand 0.06 - 1.9 mm, silt < 0.06 mm; Platts et al. 1983) and water velocity (i.e., fast: > 1.0 m/s, moderate: 0.6 - 1.0 m/s, slow: < 0.6 m/s) were visually estimated at each sampled site. In blind tests paired with velocity measurements (orange float method; Gordon et al. 1997), 94% of our visual velocity estimates (n = 66) were correct. Presence or absence of slow water areas $\geq 2 \text{ m}^2$ within a site was estimated visually in order to record the presence of small slow water habitats, such as eddies within channel units with predominantly moderate or fast velocity habitat.

Age-0 Mountain Whitefish catch (C) was calculated for each site. All statistical comparisons were between seining and electrofishing because no Mountain Whitefish were captured in minnow traps or lighted minnow traps. We calculated catch per unit effort (C/f) to standardize catch data between gears using length sampled (m) as a unit of effort. Age-0 C/f data were not normally distributed. Log and square root transformations did not normalize the distribution of age-0 C/f data. A paired Wilcoxson signed rank test, which is appropriate for non-parametric data, was used to test the null hypothesis that there was no difference in C/f between paired (in the same block) seined and electrofished sites. Coefficient of variation ($100 \cdot \text{SD}/\text{mean}$) for C/f was calculated for seined and electrofished sites. Differences in sampling time between paired seined and electrofished sites were normally distributed, thus a paired *t*-test was used to test the null hypothesis that there was no difference in time needed to sample a site between gears. Poisson logistic regression was used to test whether age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f differed among backwaters, large channels, and small channels at seined sites. Relationships between other habitat characteristics and age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/fwere evaluated graphically, because low sample sizes, along with high collinearity (i.e., silt substrates are associated with slow-water velocity, and both are common in backwaters) limited our ability to conduct statistical tests.

Results

No age-0 Mountain Whitefish were captured in minnow traps or lighted minnow traps. Seining had higher age-0 Mountain Whitefish *C/f* than electrofishing (V = 95, P = 0.008) (Figure 3.3). It was estimated that 0.8 additional age-0 Mountain Whitefish per meter (95% CI, 0.1 - 1.5) were captured with seining compared to electrofishing in the same block. There was a large amount of variation in *C/f* among seined sites (mean, 0.82; SD, 2.19) and among electrofished sites (mean, 0.04; SD, 0.13), but the coefficient of variation was lower for seining (267) than electrofishing (325). Mean TL of age-0 Mountain Whitefish was similar for both gears (seine, 31 mm; electrofishing, 29 mm). Greater variation in length of age-0 Mountain Whitefish was observed in samples from seining (17 – 41 mm) compared to electrofishing (21 – 36 mm; Figure 3.4).

Mean time required for a two-person crew to seine a site was 13 minutes (minimum – maximum, 5 – 28 min), and mean time to electrofish a site was 36 minutes (minimum – maximum, 12 – 63 min). Sampling a site with a seine was 23 minutes faster (95% CI, 17 - 30 minutes) than sampling with a backpack electrofisher (t = -7.56, df = 22, P < 0.0001).

Age-0 Mountain Whitefish seine catch was highest in backwaters, with a mean *C/f* of 2.0 age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Large channels had lower *C/f* (0.16) than both backwaters (Z = 15.020, df = 19, P < 0.0001), and small channels (Z = 2.44, df = 19, P = 0.015), where mean *C/f* was 0.24 (Table 3.1). One high outlier heavily influenced mean *C/f* in small channels. When this outlier was removed, small channels had lower *C/f* (3 x10⁻³) than large channels (Z = -3.871, df = 19, P = 0.0001). Mountain Whitefish

presence was associated with areas of still or slow water $\ge 2 \text{ m}^2$ (Table 3.2). All age-0 Mountain Whitefish captured with seining (n = 496) and 92% (46 of 50) of age-0 Mountain Whitefish captured with electrofishing were captured at sites with slow-water habitat. In large and small channels, mean seine *C/f* was 0.24 fish/m at sites with still or slow water, and 0.00 fish/m at sites without still or slow-water pockets. Similarly, electrofishing *C/f* was 0.03 fish/m at sites with still or slow water, and 0.01 fish/m at sites without still or slow water pockets (Table 3.2).

Discussion

We recommend seining be used for future sampling of age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Seines yielded the highest *C/f* with the lowest coefficient of variation of the gears tested, captured the greatest size range of age-0 Mountain Whitefish, and were the fastest sampling gear to deploy. Backpack electrofishing also captured age-0 Mountain Whitefish, but required more time and yielded lower *C/f*. Minnow traps and lighted minnow traps did not capture any Mountain Whitefish.

Seines probably were the most effective gear tested because age-0 Mountain Whitefish inhabited slow velocity, structurally simple areas. Age-0 capture locations, and visual observations, demonstrated that age-0 Mountain Whitefish typically inhabited open habitats with fine substrates, limited cover, and slow water velocities. In addition, Mountain Whitefish were observed schooling in open water. Seines are highly effective at sampling schooling midwater fishes (Lyons 1986; Lapointe et al. 2006) in shallow (< 1 m) areas with limited structural complexity and silt, sand, and gravel substrates (Leslie et al. 1983; Rabeni et al. 2009). Seines are less efficient in areas with cover (e.g., submerged logs, coarse substrate) or fast water velocities (Holland-Bartels and Dewey 1997), but age-0 Mountain Whitefish were rare in these areas. We rarely detected age-0 Mountain Whitefish in the above areas with electrofishing, which is effective at capturing fish in structurally complex or high-velocity habitat (Wiley and Tsai 1983; Dunham et al. 2009). We sampled extensively in high-velocity areas, under woody debris and undercut banks, and over coarse substrate with interstitial spaces. We captured 466 age-0 Brown Trout with electrofishing in the above areas, and four age-0 Mountain Whitefish. At age-0, Brown Trout and Mountain Whitefish have similar body shapes and are similar sizes (Mean TL, 31 mm, both species). Thus, if Mountain Whitefish were common in areas with fast velocity or coarse substrates, we likely would have captured them when electrofishing.

Habitat must be considered when designing sampling protocols because Mountain Whitefish *C/f* was higher in slow velocity areas. If maximizing catch is a study goal (i.e., for growth, diet, or occupancy studies), we recommend selecting slow velocity, silt-laden areas for sampling. Conversely, if estimating abundance or inferring results to reach scales is a study goal, we recommend quantifying total area in a river reach, and the area of slow-water habitat, and using random stratified sampling to select sites, concentrating sampling effort in slow water sites.

In addition to their effectiveness in habitats occupied by age-0 Mountain Whitefish, seines offer several other advantages. Seines are effective in a variety of environmental conditions and are not influenced by water conductivity, a factor that

heavily influences electrofishing efficiency (Burkhardt and Gutreuter 1995). Similarly, high turbidity can decrease electrofishing catches, but can increase the efficiency of seines because low light limits net avoidance behavior (Glass and Wardle 1989). This is important because peak discharge in rivers occupied by Mountain Whitefish typically occurs during spring snowmelt, and variable river conditions exist during the early life of Mountain Whitefish (April - June). Seining captured a wider length range of age-0 Mountain Whitefish, including small (16 - 21 mm) fish that were difficult to see and net when electrofishing. Seines are selective for small fish (Wiley and Tsai 1983; Hayes 1989; Van Den Avyle et al. 1995), because larger fish are typically stronger swimmers and can often escape a pulled net. The largest age-0 Mountain Whitefish observed during this study (47 mm TL) were captured with seining, not electrofishing. Thus, seines are an appropriate gear for sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish up to at least 2 - 3 months post hatch (June), but efficiency would decrease in late summer. Finally, seines were quick to deploy, so a monitoring program based on seining would allow more area to be sampled in a given amount of time, increasing sample sizes.

Our results highlight the importance of investigating appropriate sampling methods for a target species. Prior to this study, we predicted that electrofishing would be the most effective sampling method. Electrofishing is an efficient method for sampling age-0 trout in coldwater streams (Dunham et al. 2009), and we targeted another salmonid with a similar body shape. However, seining was more efficient at capturing age-0 Mountain Whitefish because of different behavior and habitat use. Seining is a standard technique for sampling fishes in warmwater wadeable streams (Rabeni et al.

2009), but standard techniques for small fishes in coldwater streams are typically electrofishing and snorkel surveys (Dunham et al. 2009), methods optimized for sampling trout and salmon. This study illustrates the importance of evaluating sampling methods when little is known about a species and the habitat it occupies.

Tables

TABLE 3.1. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish *C/f* in the Madison River, Montana grouped by habitat type (backwater, large channel, ≥ 18 m width, small channel, ≤ 6 m width) and sampling gear.

	Mean C/f (SD)	
Habitat type	Seining	Electrofishing
Backwater	2.05(3.51)	0.08(0.23)
Large Channel	0.16(0.28)	0.04(0.08)
Small Channel	0.24(0.63)	0.01(0.00)

TABLE 3.2. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish *C/f* in channel sites in the Madison River, Montana grouped by presence or absence of areas of slow water $\ge 2m^2$ and sampling gear. Backwater *C/f* data is not included because all backwaters have slow or still water.

Slow water	Mean C/f (SD)	
areas $\ge 2m^2$	Seining	Electrofishing
Present	0.24(0.50)	0.04(0.08)
Absent	0.00(0.00)	0.01(0.01)



FIGURE 3.1. Map of study site. Sampling was conducted in the Madison River, Montana between Varney Bridge and Ennis Lake, a distance of 23.5 km.



FIGURE 3.2. Schematic illustrating (A) delineation of blocks, and (B) sampling sites within randomly selected blocks. Blocks were defined as four adjacent backwaters, 200 m reaches in large channels, and 250 m reaches in small channels. Four sampling sites were located in each block, and all four gears were tested in each block, with gear randomly assigned to sampling site.



FIGURE 3.3. Catch per unit effort (C/f; number per meter) of age-0 Mountain Whitefish at seined (n = 23) and electrofished (n = 23) sites in the Madison River, Montana.



FIGURE 3.4. Length-frequency histogram of age-0 Mountain Whitefish captured with seining and electrofishing in the Madison River, Montana in May and June 2013.

References

- Baldwin, T. J., J. E. Peterson, G. C. McGhee, K. D. Staigmiller, E. S. Motteram, C. C. Downs, and D. R. Stanek. 1998. Distribution of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in salmonid fishes in Montana. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 10:361–371.
- Bonar, S. A., and W. A. Hubert. 2002. Standard sampling of inland fish: benefits, challenges, and a call for action. Fisheries 27(3):10–16.
- Bonar, S. A., W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors. 2009. Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes, 1st edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- Bradford, M. J., and G. Cabana. 1997. Interannual variability in survival rates and the causes of recruitment variability. Pages 469-494 *in* R. C. Chambers and E. A. Trippel, editors. Early life history and recruitment in fish populations. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Brinkman, S. F., H. J. Crockett, and K. B. Rogers. 2013. Upper thermal tolerance of mountain whitefish eggs and fry. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:824–831.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1952. Spawning habits and early development of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni*, in Montana. Copeia 1952(2):109–113.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1971. Fishes of Montana. Big Sky Books, Bozeman, Montana.
- Burkhardt, R. W., and S. Gutreuter. 1995. Improving electrofishing catch consistency by standardizing power. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15:375–381.
- Clancey, P., and T. Lohrenz. 2013. Madison River drainage fisheries and Madison River westslope cutthroat trout conservation and restoration program. 2012 Annual Report to PPL Montana. Available http://fwp.mt.gov/fishAndWildlife/fishAndWildlifeLibrarySearch.html (August 2015)
- Davies, R.W., and G. W. Thompson. 1976. Movements of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River watershed, Alberta. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33:2395–2401.
- Dunham, J. B., A. E. Rosenberger, and R. F. Thurow. 2009. Coldwater fish in wadeable streams. Pages 119–138 *in* S. A. Bonar, W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors.

Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Glass, C. W., and C. S. Wardle. 1989. Comparison of the reactions of fish to a trawl gear, at high and low light intensities. Fisheries Research 7:249-266.
- Gordon, N. D., T. A. McMahon, and B. L. Finlayson. 1997. Stream hydrology, 1st edition. Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England.
- Hayes, J. W. 1989. Comparison between a fine mesh trap net and five other fishing gears for sampling shallow lake fish communities in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 23:321–324.
- Holland-Bartels, L. E., and M. R. Dewey. 1997. The influence of seine capture efficiency on fish abundance estimates in the upper Mississippi River. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 12:101–111.
- IDFG (Idaho Department of Fish and Game). 2007. Mountain whitefish conservation and management plan for the Big Lost River Drainage, Idaho. Management Report. Volume 165-04. IDFG, Boise, Idaho.
- Kelso, W. E., and D. A. Rutherford. 1996. Collection, preservation, and identification of fish eggs and larvae. Pages 255–302 *in* B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors.
 Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Lapointe, N. W. R., L. D. Corkum, and N. E. Mandrak. 2006. A comparison of methods for sampling fish diversity in shallow offshore waters of large rivers. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26:503–513.
- Leslie, J. K., J. E. Moore, W. H. Hyatt, and C. A. Timmins. 1983. Seine for sampling larval fish in shallow water. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 45:130–131.
- Liebelt, J. E. 1970. Studies on the behavior and life history of the mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni* Girard). Master's thesis. Montana State University, Bozeman.
- Lyons, J. 1986. Capture efficiency of a beach seine for seven freshwater fishes in a north-temperate lake. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 6:288–289.
- Mangan, M. T., M. L. Brown, and T. R. St. Sauver. 2005. A comparison of passive gears for selective yellow perch harvest. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 25:1067–1072.

- Meyer, K. A., F. S. Elle, and J. A. Lamansky. 2009. Environmental factors related to the distribution, abundance, and life history characteristics of mountain whitefish in Idaho. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:753–767.
- Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks (MTFWP). 2008 2012. Montana statewide angling pressure. Available: http://fwp.mt.gov/fishing/anglingPressureSurveys/. (July 2015).
- Myers R. A. 2002. Recruitment: understanding density-dependence. Pages 123-48 *in* P. Hart and J. Reynold, editors, Handbook of fish biology and fisheries Vol 1: fish biology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Nett, J. H. G., T. B. Campbell, N. E. Mandrak, and S. D. Tiegs. 2012. Detecting invasive round goby in wadeable streams: a comparison of gear types. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 32:360–364.
- PBS&J. 2011. Water quality and biological monitoring trend analysis, Missouri-Madison Water Monitoring Program. 2011 Report to PPL Montana, project number 100011042, Billings.
- Pettit, S. W., and R. L. Wallace. 1975. Age, growth, and movement of mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard), in the North Fork Clearwater River, Idaho. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 104:68–76.
- Phelps, Q. E., D. P. Herzog, R. C. Brooks, V. A. Barko, D. E. Ostendorf, J. W. Ridings, S. J. Tripp, R. E. Colombo, J. E. Garvey, and R. A. Hrabik. 2009. Seasonal comparison of catch rates and size structure using three gear types to sample sturgeon in the middle Mississippi River. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:1487–1495.
- Pierce, R., M. Davidson, and C. Podner. 2012. Spawning behavior of mountain whitefish and co-occurrence of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in the Blackfoot River Basin, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141:720–730.
- Platts, W. S., W. F. Megahan, and G. W. Minshall. 1983. Methods for evaluating stream, riparian, and biotic conditions. U. S. Forest Service, General Technical Report INT-138.
- Rabeni, C. F., J. Lyons, N. Mercado-Silva, J. T. Peterson, J. B. Dunham, A. E.
 Rosenberger, and R. F. Thurow. 2009. Warmwater fish in wadeable streams. Pages 119–138 *in*. A. Bonar, W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors. Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Rajagopal, P. K. 1979. The embryonic development and the thermal effects on the development of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard). Journal of Fish Biology 15:153–158.
- Scott, W. B., and E. J. Crossman. 1973. Freshwater fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin 184, Ottawa, Canada.
- Stalnaker, C. B., and R. E. Gresswell. 1974. Early life history and feeding of young mountain whitefish. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ecological Research Series Report EPA-660/3-73-019.
- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015. Real-time data for Montana. Available: http://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/mt/nwis/rt. (July 2015)
- Van Den Avyle, M. J., J. Boxrucker, P. Michaletz, B. Vondracek, and G. R. Ploskey. 1995. Comparison of catch rate, length distribution, and precision of six gears used to sample reservoir shad populations. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15:940–955.
- Vincent, E. R. 1987. Effects of stocking catchable-size hatchery rainbow trout on two wild trout species in the Madison River and O'Dell Creek, Montana. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 7:91–105.
- Vincent, E. R. 1996. Whirling disease and wild trout: the Montana experience. Fisheries 21(6):32–33.
- Wiley, M. L., and C. Tsai. 1983. The relative efficiencies of electrofishing vs. seines in Piedmont streams of Maryland. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 3:243–253.

CHAPTER FOUR

CONCLUSIONS

My objectives were to describe life-history characteristics that could influence recruitment of Mountain Whitefish in the Madison River, Montana, and identify effective sampling methods for age-0 Mountain Whitefish. In chapter two, I used a variety of methods to investigate multiple life stages with the understanding that this research would begin to clarify the mechanisms causing the decline in Mountain Whitefish abundance. I found that fecundity, age-at-maturity, and spawning periodicity were similar to values reported for other Mountain Whitefish populations studied (Brown 1952; Northcote and Ennis 1994; Meyer et al. 2009). Adult movement patterns were similar among years despite variable water temperature schedules during the spawning season. Spawning activity and age-0 fish were concentrated in the downstream 26 km of the study site, a braided area with complex habitat. Finally, age-0 Mountain Whitefish were most often found in low velocity, silt-laden habitats.

In chapter three, I compared seining, backpack electrofishing, minnow traps, and lighted minnow traps, in order to identify an efficient method for sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Seines had the highest age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f with the lowest coefficient of variation of the gears tested, captured the greatest size range of age-0 fish, and were the fastest sampling gear to deploy (Chapter 3). Backpack electrofishing also captured age-0 Mountain Whitefish, but required more time and had lower C/f. Minnow traps and lighted minnow traps did not capture any Mountain Whitefish. Therefore, seining should be used for sampling age-0 Mountain Whitefish. Additionally,

habitat must be considered when selecting sampling sites. Age-0 Mountain Whitefish C/f was highest in backwaters, and among channel sites Mountain Whitefish C/f was higher at sites with areas of slow water $\ge 2 \text{ m}^2$ (Chapter 3). If maximizing catch is a study goal (i.e., for growth, diet, or occupancy studies), I recommend selecting protected, low velocity areas for sampling.

These results provide a foundation for investigating possible limiting factors on the Madison River, and suggest that future investigations into limiting factors should focus on juvenile survival, rather than reproductive development of adults. Mountain Whitefish were highly fecund and matured at young ages, and histological sections showed normal development of oocytes, thus limited egg production is not a plausible limiting factor. Age-0 fish were concentrated in silt-laden habitats in the downstream 26 km of the study site, a relatively restricted distribution. Thus, stressors in this reach that reduce growth or survival could have population-level effects. Two potential mortality factors which could be investigated are whirling disease and drift into lakes. The parasite which causes whirling disease, *M. cerebralis*, is present in the Madison River and has caused Rainbow Trout declines (Vincent 1996; Krueger et al. 2006). Age-0 Mountain Whitefish are susceptible to whirling disease, but mortality rates depend on age at exposure (Schisler 2010), and temporal overlap between vulnerable life stages and peak triactinomyxon (TAM, life stage of *M. Cerebralis* that infects fish) releases typically exists only in river reaches with warm winter temperatures (Pierce et al. 2012). Another possible mortality agent is larval drift into lakes. My results suggest that age-0 Mountain Whitefish may drift into Ennis and Earthquake lakes, but I did not investigate how many

fish may drift into lakes or determine whether age-0 fish can survive in lentic habitats. Determining whether TAM releases overlap temporally with vulnerable Mountain Whitefish, quantifying drift distances, and evaluating the effects of drifting into lentic habitats are logical next steps for investigating factors that affect survival of juvenile Mountain Whitefish. My gear comparison (Chapter 3) and age-0 distribution (Chapter 2) results can guide future studies in the Madison River that could identify mechanisms responsible for declines in Mountain Whitefish abundance.

Although the scope of inference for this study was limited to the Madison River between Hebgen and Madison dams, the results may help inform Mountain Whitefish studies in other watersheds. I provided the first histological description of Mountain Whitefish reproductive development, the second documentation of annual spawning periodicity, and fecundity and age values which augment a sparse dataset (Chapter 2; Sigler 1951; Pettit and Wallace 1975; Meyer et al. 2009). Estimates of these reproductive parameters form a baseline which can be used for future comparative studies. Similarly, this study augments the information available on seasonal movement and habitat use of Mountain Whitefish. Previous studies have shown that some Mountain Whitefish moved limited distances (< 1 km) during Autumn, but others made large upstream movements (up to 80 km) to mainstem and tributary spawning sites (Pettit and Wallce 1975; Pierce et al. 2012; Benjamin et al. 2014) and moved upstream or downstream to lotic overwintering sites (Davies and Thompson 1976; Baxter 2002; Benjamin et al. 2014). In the Madison River, fish moved similar distances during autumn, but the net direction of prespawning movement was downstream, and fish moved into lotic and lentic habitats to

overwinter. Furthermore, comparing age-0 distribution to distribution of spawning adults showed that these two factors were related only at larger scales, suggesting that larval drift may influence age-0 distribution (chapter 2).

My age-0 sampling recommendations (chapter 3) can facilitate efficient sampling in watersheds throughout the the range of the Mountain Whitefish. Seines have been used to capture age-0 Mountain Whitefish in other rivers (Brown 1952; Pettit and Wallace 1975). However, my gear comparison study (Chapter 3) was the first to compare different sampling methods for age-0 Mountain Whitefish, and confirm that seining was the most effective of the gears tested. I also showed that age-0 Mountain Whitefish were most abundant in low velocity, silt-laden habitats (Chapter 2; Chapter 3). Smaller scale descriptive studies in the Yellowstone River, Montana, Clearwater River, Idaho, Sheep River, Alberta, and Logan River, Utah also located age-0 Mountain Whitefish in protected, slow water habitats (Sigler 1951; Brown 1952; Pettit and Wallace 1975; Davies and Thompson 1976), suggesting that the habitat associations I observed in the Madison River persist across large portions of the range of the Mountain Whitefish.
References

- Baxter, C. V. 2002. Fish movement and assemblage dynamics in a Pacific Northwest riverscape. Doctoral dissertation. Oregon State University, Corvallis.
- Benjamin, J. R., L. A. Wetzel, K. D. Martens, K. Larsen, and P. J. Connolly. 2014. Spatio-temporal variability in movement, age, and growth of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a river network based upon PIT tagging and otolith chemistry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 71:131–140.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1952. Spawning habits and early development of the mountain whitefish, Prosopium williamsoni, in Montana. Copeia 1952(2):109–113.
- Davies, R.W., and Thompson, G.W. 1976. Movements of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River watershed, Alberta. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33:2395–2401.
- IDFG (Idaho Department of Fish and Game). 2007. Mountain whitefish conservation and management plan for the Big Lost River Drainage, Idaho. Management Report. Volume 165-04. IDFG, Boise, Idaho.
- Krueger, R. C., B. L. Kerans, E. R. Vincent, and C. Rasmussen.2006. Risk of *Myxobolus cerebralis* infection to rainbow trout in the Madison River, Montana, USA. Ecological Applications 16:770–783.
- Meyer, K. A., F. S. Elle, and J. A. Lamansky. 2009. Environmental factors related to the distribution, abundance, and life history characteristics of mountain whitefish in Idaho. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:753–767.
- Northcote, T. G., and G. L. Ennis. 1994. Mountain whitefish biology and habitat use in relation to compensation and improvement possibilities. Reviews in Fisheries Science 2:347–371.
- Paragamian, V. L. 2002. Changes in the species composition of the fish community in a reach of the Kootenai River, Idaho, after construction of Libby Dam. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 17:375–383.
- Pettit, S. W., and R. L. Wallace. 1975. Age, growth, and movement of mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard), in the North Fork Clearwater River, Idaho. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 104:68–76.

- Pierce, R., M. Davidson, and C. Podner. 2012. Spawning behavior of mountain whitefish and co-occurrence of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in the Blackfoot River Basin, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141:720–730.
- Schisler, G. J. 2010. Effects of whirling disease (*Myxobolus cerebralis*) exposure on juvenile Mountain Whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*). Report to Colorado Division of Wildlife, Aquatic Research Section, Fort Collins. Available: www.wildlife.state.co.us/Research/Aquatic/MountainWhitefish. (July 2015).
- Sigler, W. F. 1951. The life history and management of *Prosopium williamsoni* in the Logan River, Utah. Utah State Agricultural College, Bulletin 347, Logan.
- Vincent, E. R. 1996. Whirling disease and wild trout: the Montana experience. Fisheries 21(6):32–33.

REFERENCES CITED

- Adams, C. E., D. J. Hamilton, I. McCarthy, A. J. Wilson, A. Grant, G. Alexander, S. Waldron, S. S. Snorrason, M. M. Ferguson and S. Skúlason. 2006. Does breeding site fidelity drive phenotypic and genetic sub-structuring of a population of Arctic charr? Evolutionary Ecology 20:11–26.
- Bailey, M., and U. R. Sumaila. 2012. Freshwater angling and the B. C. economy. Report to Freshwater Fisheries Society of BC. Victoria, BC. Available: http://www.gofishbc.com/news-and-events/industry-updates/economic-analysis (September 2015).
- Baldwin, T. J., J. E. Peterson, G. C. McGhee, K. D. Staigmiller, E. S. Motteram, C. C. Downs, and D. R. Stanek. 1998. Distribution of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in salmonid fishes in Montana. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 10:361–371.
- Baxter, C. V., and F. R. Hauer. 2000. Geomorphology, hyporheic exchange, and selection of spawning habitat by bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 1470-1481.
- Baxter, C. V. 2002. Fish movement and assemblage dynamics in a Pacific Northwest riverscape. Doctoral dissertation. Oregon State University, Corvallis.
- Baxter, J. S., and J. D. McPhail. 1999. The influence of redd site selection, groundwater upwelling, and over-winter incubation temperature on survival of bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) from egg to alevin. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77:1233– 1239.
- Bellmore, J. R., C.V. Baxter, K. Martens, and P. J. Connelly. 2013. The floodplain food webmosaic: a study of its importance to production of salmon and steelhead with implications for their recovery. Ecological Applications 23:189–207.
- Benjamin, J. R., L. A. Wetzel, K. D. Martens, K. Larsen, and P. J. Connolly. 2014. Spatio-temporal variability in movement, age, and growth of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a river network based upon PIT tagging and otolith chemistry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 71:131–140.
- Bjornn, T. C., and D. W. Reiser. 1991. Habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. Pages 83–138 in W. R. Meehan, editor. Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society, Special Publication 19, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Blazer, V. S. 2002. Histopathological assessment of gonadal tissue in wild fishes. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 26:85–101.

- Bogdanov, V. D., and E. N. Bogdanova. 2012. Ecological aspects of larval drift in coregonids with long migration routes. Russian Journal of Ecology 43:315–322.
- Bonar, S. A., and W. A. Hubert. 2002. Standard sampling of inland fish: benefits, challenges, and a call for action. Fisheries 27(3):10–16.
- Bonar, S. A., W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors. 2009. Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes, 1st edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- Boyd, J. W. 2008. Effects of water temperature and angling on mortality of salmonids in Montana streams. Master's thesis. Montana State University, Bozeman.
- Bradford, M. J., and G. Cabana. 1997. Interannual variability in survival rates and the causes of recruitment variability. Pages 469-494 *in* R. C. Chambers and E. A. Trippel, editors. Early Life History and Recruitment in Fish Populations. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Brenkman, S. J., G. L. Larson, and R. E. Gresswell. 2001. Spawning migration of lacustrine-adfluvial bull trout in a natural area. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 130:981–987.
- Brinkman, S. F., H. J. Crockett, and K. B. Rogers. 2013. Upper thermal tolerance of mountain whitefish eggs and fry. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:824–831.
- Brinkman, S., T. E. Remington, J. A. Crawford, and R. Mcanally. 2008. Water pollution studies. Federal Aid Project F-243-R15.
- Bromage, N. R., M. J. R. Porter, C. F. Randall. 2001. The environmental regulation of maturation in farmed finfish with special reference to the role of photoperiod and melatonin. Aquaculture; 197:63–98.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1952. Spawning habits and early development of the mountain whitefish, Prosopium williamsoni, in Montana. Copeia 1952(2):109–113.
- Brown, C. J. D. 1971. Fishes of Montana. Big Sky Books, Bozeman, Montana.
- Burkhardt, R. W., and S. Gutreuter. 1995. Improving electrofishing catch consistency by standardizing power. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15:375–381.

- Buzby, K.M., and L. A. Deegan. Long-term survival of adult Arctic grayling (*Thymallus arcticus*) in the Kuparuk River, Alaska. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:1954–1964.
- Clancey, P., and T. Lohrenz. 2013. Madison River drainage fisheries and Madison River westslope cutthroat trout conservation and restoration program. 2012 Annual Report to PPL Montana. Available http://fwp.mt.gov/fishAndWildlife/fishAndWildlifeLibrarySearch.html (August 2015)
- Cooke, S. J., and C. M. Bunt. 2001. Assessment of internal and external antenna configurations of radio transmitters implanted in smallmouth bass. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21:236–241.
- Cooke, S. J., G. Hinch, Scott, M. C. Lucas, and M. Lutcavage. 2012. Biotelemetry and biologging. Pages 819–881 in A. V. Zale, D. L. Parrish, and T. M. Sutton, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 3rd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- CTC (Canadian Tourism Commission). 2012. Sport fishing and game hunting in Canada: an assessment on the potential international tourism opportunity. CTC Research & Evaluation, Ottowa, ON. Available: http://open.canada.ca/vl/en/doc/publications-449209 (September 2015).
- Curry, R. A., and D. L. G. Noakes. 1995. Groundwater and the selection of spawning sites by brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 52:1733–1740.
- Cunjak, R.A. 1996. Winter habitat of selected stream fishes and potential impacts from land-use activity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53:149-160.
- Davies, R.W., and Thompson, G.W. 1976. Movements of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River watershed, Alberta. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33:2395–2401.
- Deters, K. A., R. S. Brown, K. M. Carter, J. W. Boyd, M. B. Eppard, and A. G. Seaburg. 2010. Performance assessment of suture type, water temperature, and surgeon skill in juvenile chinook salmon surgically implanted with acoustic transmitters. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 139:888–899.
- Dunham, J. B., A. E. Rosenberger, and R. F. Thurow. 2009. Coldwater fish in wadeable streams. Pages 119–138 in S. A. Bonar, W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors. Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Eaton, J. G., and R. M. Scheller. 1996. Effects of climate in warming on fish thermal habitat in streams of the United States. Limnology and Oceanography 41:1109–1115.
- Forsythe, P. S., K. T. Scribner, J. A. Crossman, A. Ragavendran, E. A. Baker, C. Davis, and K. K. Smith. 2012. Environmental and lunar cues are predictive of the timing of river entry and spawning-site arrival in lake sturgeon *Acipenser fulvescens*. Journal of Fish Biology 81:35-53.
- Friend, P. F., and R. Sinha. 1993. Braiding and meandering parameters. Pages 105–111 in J. L. Best and C. S. Bristow, editors. Braided rivers. Geological Society, Special Publication 75, London.
- Frissell, C. A., W. J. Liss, C. E. Warren, and M. D. Hurley. 1986. A hierarchical framework for stream habitat classification: viewing streams in a watershed context. Environmental Management 10:199–214.
- Gates, K. K., C. S. Guy, A. V. Zale, and T. B. Horton. 2009. Angler awareness of aquatic nuisance species and potential transport mechanisms. Fisheries Management and Ecology 16:448–456.
- Gee J. H., and T. G. Northcote. 1963. Comparative ecology of two sympatric species of dace (*Rhinichthys*) in the Fraser River system, British Columbia. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 20:105-118.
- Glass, C. W., and C. S. Wardle. 1989. Comparison of the reactions of fish to a trawl gear, at high and low light intensities. Fisheries Research 7:249-266.
- Goetz, F., S. Sitar, D. Rosauer, P. Swanson, C. R. Bronte, J. Dickey, and C. Simchick. 2011. The reproductive biology of siscowet and lean lake trout in southern Lake Superior. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 140:1472–1491.
- Goodnight, W. H., and T. C. Bjornn. 1971. Fish production in two Idaho streams. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 100:769:780.
- Gordon, N. D., T. A. McMahon, and B. L. Finlayson. 1997. Stream hydrology, 1st edition. Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England.
- Grau, K., J. Jorgenson, and N. P. Nickerson. 2014. The economic review of the travel industry in Montana: 2014 biennial edition. Institute for Tourism and Recreation Research Publications. paper 312. Missoula, MT.
- Hagen, H. K. 1970. Age, growth, and reproduction of the mountain whitefish in Phelps Lake, Wyoming. Pages 399-415 in C. C. Lindsay, editor. Biology of Coregonid fishes. University of Manitoba Press, Winnipeg.

- Hayes, J. W. 1989. Comparison between a fine mesh trap net and five other fishing gears for sampling shallow lake fish communities in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 23:321–324.
- Holland-Bartels, L. E., and M. R. Dewey. 1997. The influence of seine capture efficiency on fish abundance estimates in the upper Mississippi River. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 12:101–111.
- Huusko, A., L. Greenberg, M. Stickler, T. Linnansaari, M. Nykanen, T. Vehanen, S. Koljonen, P. Louhi, and K. Alfredson. 2007. Life in the ice lane: the winter ecology of stream salmonids. River Research and Applications 23:469–491.
- IDFG (Idaho Department of Fish and Game). 2007. Mountain whitefish conservation and management plan for the Big Lost River Drainage, Idaho. Management Report. Volume 165-04. IDFG, Boise, Idaho.
- Kelso, W. E., and D. A. Rutherford. 1996. Collection, preservation, and identification of fish eggs and larvae. Pages 255–302 *in* B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Kennedy, P. A. 2009. The effect of irrigation diversions on the Mountain Whitefish population (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in the Big Lost River. Master's Thesis. Utah State University, Logan.
- Krueger, R. C., B. L. Kerans, E. R. Vincent, and C. Rasmussen. 2006. Risk of *Myxobolus cerebralis* infection to rainbow trout in the Madison River, Montana, USA. Ecological Applications 16:770–783.
- Laakso, M. 1951. Food habits of the Yellowstone whitefish *Prosopium williamsoni* cismontanus (Jordan). Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 80:99–109.
- Lance, M. J., and C. V. Baxter. 2011. Abundance, production, and tissue composition of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) in a Central Idaho wilderness stream. Northwest Science 85:445–454.
- Lapointe, N. W. R., L. D. Corkum, and N. E. Mandrak. 2006. A comparison of methods for sampling fish diversity in shallow offshore waters of large rivers. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26:503–513.
- Leslie, J. K., J. E. Moore, W. H. Hyatt, and C. A. Timmins. 1983. Seine for sampling larval fish in shallow water. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 45:130–131.
- Lewis, M. S., and Z. King. 2014. Statewide estimates of resident and nonresident hunter & angler expenditures in Montana. Helena, MT.

- Liebelt, J. E. 1970. Studies on the behavior and life history of the mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni* Girard). Master's Thesis. Montana State University, Bozeman.
- Lischka, S. A., and J. J. Magnuson. 2006. Timing and site selection of spawning in a landlocked population of rainbow smelt in Wisconsin. Environmental Biology of Fishes 76:413-418.
- Luna, L. G. 1968. Manual of histologic staining methods of the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology. McGraw Hill Publishers, New York, 3rd edition. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Lyons, J. 1986. Capture efficiency of a beach seine for seven freshwater fishes in a north-temperate lake. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 6:288–289.
- Mangan, M. T., M. L. Brown, and T. R. St. Sauver. 2005. A comparison of passive gears for selective yellow perch harvest. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 25:1067–1072.
- McMahon, T. E., A. V. Zale, and D. J. Orth. 1996. Aquatic habitat measurements. Pages 83–120 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Melquist, W.E., and M. G. Hornocker. 1983. Ecology of river otters in west central Idaho. Wildlife Monographs 83:3–60.
- Meyer, K. A., F. S. Elle, and J. A. Lamansky. 2009. Environmental factors related to the distribution, abundance, and life history characteristics of mountain whitefish in Idaho. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:753–767.
- MFWP (Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks). 2006 2012. Montana statewide angling pressure. Available: http://fwp.mt.gov/fishing/anglingPressureSurveys/. (July 2015).
- Montana State Library. 2015. Montana geographic information clearinghouse. Available: http://geoinfo.msl.mt.gov/. (August 2015)
- Morbey Y. 2000. Protandry in Pacific salmon. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57:1252–1257.
- Morbey, Y.E., and R.C. Ydenberg. 2001. Protandrous arrival timing to breeding areas: a review. Ecology Letters 4:663-673.
- Mullahy, J. 1986. Specification and testing of some modified count data models. Journal of Econometrics 33:341-365.

- Myers R. A. 2002. Recruitment: understanding density-dependence. Pages 123-48*in* P. Hart and J. Reynold, editors, Handbook of Fish Biology and Fisheries Vol 1: Fish Biology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Nannini, M. A., J. Goodrich, J. M. Dettmers, D. A. Soluk, and D. H. Wahl. 2012. Larval and early juvenile fish dynamics in main channel and backwater lake habitats of the Illinois River ecosystem. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 21:499-509.
- Naesje, T. F., B. Jonssons, and O. T. Sandlund. 1986. Drift of cisco and whitefish larvae in a Norwegian river. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 115:89–93.
- Naesje, T., B. Jonssons, and J. Skurdal. 1995. Spring flood: a primary cue for hatching of river spawning Coregoninae. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 52:2190–2196.
- Nett, J. H. G., T. B. Campbell, N. E. Mandrak, and S. D. Tiegs. 2012. Detecting invasive round goby in wadeable streams: a comparison of gear types. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 32:360–364.
- Northcote, T. G., and G. L. Ennis. 1994. Mountain whitefish biology and habitat use in relation to compensation and improvement possibilities. Reviews in Fisheries Science 2:347–371.
- Paragamian, V. L. 2002. Changes in the species composition of the fish community in a reach of the Kootenai River, Idaho, after construction of Libby Dam. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 17:375–383.
- PBS&J. 2011. Water quality and biological monitoring trend analysis, Missouri-Madison Water Monitoring Program. 2011 Report to PPL Montana, project number 100011042, Billings, MT.
- Pettit, S. W., and R. L. Wallace. 1975. Age, growth, and movement of mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard), in the North Fork Clearwater River, Idaho. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 104:68–76.
- Phelps, Q. E., D. P. Herzog, R. C. Brooks, V. A. Barko, D. E. Ostendorf, J. W. Ridings, S. J. Tripp, R. E. Colombo, J. E. Garvey, and R. A. Hrabik. 2009. Seasonal comparison of catch rates and size structure using three gear types to sample sturgeon in the middle Mississippi River. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29:1487–1495.
- Pierce, R., M. Davidson, and C. Podner. 2012. Spawning behavior of mountain whitefish and co-occurrence of *Myxobolus cerebralis* in the Blackfoot River Basin, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 141:720–730.

- Pinheiro, J. C., and D. M. Bates. 2000. Mixed effects models in S and S-Plus. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Pinheiro J. C., D. M. Bates, S. DebRoy, D. Sarkar. 2015. nlme: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1-122, available: http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=nlme.
- Platts, W. S., W. F. Megahan, and G. W. Minshall. 1983. Methods for evaluating stream, riparian, and biotic conditions. U. S. Forest Service, General Technical Report INT-138.
- Pontius, R. W., and M. Parker. 1973. Food habits of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard). Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 103:764–773.
- Quinn, T. P., M. J. Unwin, and M. T. Kinnison. 2000. Evolution of temporal isolation in the wild: genetic divergence in timing of migration and breeding by introduced Chinook salmon populations. Evolution 54:1372-1385.
- Quinn, T. P. 2005. The behavior and ecology of Pacific salmon and trout. University of Washington Press, Seattle.
- Quinn, A. L., J. B. Rasmussen, and A. Hontela. 2010. Physiological stress response of mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*) and white sucker (*Catostomus commersoni*) sampled along a gradient of temperature and agrichemicals in the Oldman River, Alberta. Environmental Biology of Fishes 88:119–131.
- Rabeni, C. F., J. Lyons, N. Mercado-Silva, J. T. Peterson, J. B. Dunham, A. E. Rosenberger, and R. F. Thurow. 2009. Warmwater fish in wadeable streams. Pages 119–138 *in* . A. Bonar, W. A. Hubert, and D. W. Willis, editors. Standard methods for sampling North American freshwater fishes. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Rajagopal, P. K. 1979. The embryonic development and the thermal effects on the development of the mountain whitefish, *Prosopium williamsoni* (Girard). Journal of Fish Biology 15:153–158.
- Reid, S. M. 2006. Timing and demographic characteristics of redhorse spawning runs in three Great Lakes basin rivers. Journal of Freshwater Ecology, 21:249-258.
- Riedel, C., and A. Peter. 2013. Timing of brown trout spawning in Alpine rivers with special consideration of egg burial depth. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22:384-397.
- Rogers, K. B., and G. C. White. 2007. Analysis of movement and habitat use from telemetry data. Pages 625–676 *in* C. S. Guy and M. L. Brown, editors. Analysis and

interpretation of freshwater fisheries data. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Robertson, M. J., K. D. Clarke, D. A. Scruton, and J. A. Brown. 2003. Interhabitat and instream movements of large Atlantic salmon parr in a Newfoundland watershed in winter. Journal of Fish Biology 63:1208–1218.
- Scheidegger, K. J., and M. B. Bain. 1995. Larval fish distribution and microhabitat use in free-flowing and regulated rivers. Copeia 1995(1):125-135.
- Schisler, G. J. 2010. Effects of whirling disease (*Myxobolus cerebralis*) exposure on juvenile Mountain Whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*). Report to Colorado Division of Wildlife, Aquatic Research Section, Fort Collins. Available: www.wildlife.state.co.us/Research/Aquatic/MountainWhitefish. (July 2015).
- Scott, W. B., and E. J. Crossman. 1973. Freshwater fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin 184, Ottawa, Canada.
- Sigler, W. F. 1951. The life history and management of *Prosopium williamsoni* in the Logan River, Utah. Utah State Agricultural College, Bulletin 347, Logan.
- Spruell, P., B. E. Rieman, K. L. Knudsen, F. M. Utter, and F. W. Allendorf. 1999. Genetic population structure within streams: microsatellite analysis of bull trout populations. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 8:114–121.
- Stalnaker, C. B., and R. E. Gresswell. 1974. Early life history and feeding of young mountain whitefish. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ecological Research Series Report EPA-660/3-73-019.
- Strange, R. J. 1996. Field examination of fishes. Pages 433–446 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries Techniques, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Swanberg, T. R. 1997. Movements of and habitat use by fluvial bull trout in the Blackfoot River, Montana. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 126:735– 746.
- Thompson, G. E., and R. W. Davies. 1976. Observations on the Age, growth, reproduction, and feeding of mountain whitefish (*Prosopoium williamsoni*) in the Sheep River, Alberta. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 105:208–219.
- USFWS (U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service). 2011. 2011 National survey of fishing, hunting, and wildlife-associated recreation. FHW/11-NAT, Washington, D. C.

- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015a. Real-time data for Montana. Available: http://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/mt/nwis/rt. (July 2015)
- USGS (U. S. Geological Survey). 2015b. The National Map. Available: http://nationalmap.gov/small_scale/ (July 2015)
- Van Daele, L. J., and H. A. Van Daele. 1982. Factors affecting the productivity of ospreys nesting in west-central Idaho. Condor 84:292–299.
- Van Den Avyle, M. J., J. Boxrucker, P. Michaletz, B. Vondracek, and G. R. Ploskey. 1995. Comparison of catch rate, length distribution, and precision of six gears used to sample reservoir shad populations. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15:940–955.
- Vincent, E. R. 1987. Effects of stocking catchable-size hatchery rainbow trout on two wild trout species in the Madison River and O'Dell Creek, Montana. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 7:91–105.
- Vincent, E. R. 1996. Whirling disease and wild trout: the Montana experience. Fisheries 21(6):32–33.
- Vlaming, V. L. 1972. Environmental control of teleost reproductive cycles: a brief review. Journal of Fish Biology 4:131-140.
- Wagner, G. N., S. J. Cooke, R. S. Brown, and K. A. Deters. 2011. Surgical implantation techniques for electronic tags in fish. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 21:71–81.
- Warren D.R., J. M. Robinson, D. C. Josephson, D. R. Sheldon, and C. E. Kraft. 2012. Elevated summer temperatures delay spawning and reduce redd construction for resident brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Global Change Biology 18:1804–1811.
- Wiley, M. L., and C. Tsai. 1983. The relative efficiencies of electrofishing vs. seines in Piedmont streams of Maryland. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 3:243–253.
- Wydoski, R. S. 2001. Life history and fecundity of mountain whitefish from Utah streams. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 130:692–698.
- Zeileis, A., C. Kleiber, and S. Jackman. 2008. Regression models for count data in R. Journal of Statistical Software 27(8):1–25.
- Zimmerman, C. E., and J. E. Finn. 2012. A simple method for in situ monitoring of water temperature in substrates used by spawning salmonids. Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management 3:288–295.

Zuur, A., E. N. Ieno, N. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith. 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer, New York.

APPENDIX A

AGE AND GROWTH MODEL



FIGURE A1. Length-at-age and von Bertalanffy growth model for Mountain Whitefish captured with boat electrofishing on 10 to 12 October (n = 146) in the Madison River, Montana. Parameter estimates are shown with SE in parentheses. Young fish (age 0, 1, and 2) of unknown sex were included in the female and male growth models.